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Chairman’s Statement

Annual Report 2021

FINANCIAL RESULTS
During the year under review, the Group recorded a total revenue from continuing operations of 
approximately HK$107.4 million (2020: HK$193.1 million). Loss attributable to owners of the Company was 
approximately HK$33.7 million (2020: profit of HK$32.6 million). The Board does not recommend the payment 
of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW
“A leaf is glorious in spring and autumn, and it is time that we looked back on the year.”

In 2021, we faced continuous resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic and prolonged economic downturn 
around the world. In particular, under the influence of the pandemic, Xi’an, where the projects under 
construction of the listed company are located, also experienced a lockdown, which affected the progress to a 
certain extent. Nevertheless, while ensuring the safety of the construction workers and smooth supply of 
materials, we strived to reduce the impact on the construction progress to guarantee completion of projects 
on schedule.

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of 
DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited 
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the 
“Group”), I am pleased to present the annual report for 
the year ended 31 December 2021.

Lu Jianzhong 
Chairman
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In the past year, our staff were united and determined to pursue excellence and achieved various 
breakthroughs and innovations on the operating front. The Company’s DTXS Silk Road International Financial 
Centre Project* (大唐西市絲路國際金融中心項目) nearly completed the construction of two office buildings 
and the sale of one of the buildings. Silk Road International Culture Centre had been developed into a 
complex for comprehensive cultural and artwork operation, finance and recreation. Hainan International Arts 
and Cultural Trading Centre Company Limited* (海南國際文化藝術品交易中心股份有限公司) owned by the 
controlling shareholder commenced operation in June and had been exploring opportunities of development 
and cooperation with the Company in various fields; in particular, revitalisation of collection resources owned 
by the controlling company and launch of digital artworks made considerable progress to become a pillar and 
growth driver of DTXS in the future.

In 2021, the Company consistently implemented and developed the “Digital China” and “Cultural Giant” 
strategies, explored high tech software and hardware, technology and equipment, as well as a number of 
patents and software copyrights for the operation of Hainan International Arts and Cultural Trading Centre. It 
joined hands with Digital Weinan (Hainan) Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (數字文華 (海南) 資訊科技股份
公司) under the Centre to commence researches on the applications and industrialisation of key technologies, 
such as solutions for cultural artwork identification filing, credit information and source tracing, DNA 
information acquisition, non-destructive testing, digital protected demonstration and dissemination, digital asset 
transaction, etc. Based on the copyright of “Da Tang Chain” and the artwork registration, transaction and 
innovative application project, the Company will continue to work on the introduction of foreign IP and sale of 
NFT digital artworks in the China in the future, and manage the IP resources of the museum owned by the 
controlling shareholder in the form of digital artwork to align with foreign platforms in promotion and 
marketing, thereby developing a unique IP theme with the background of “Silk Road” culture.

FUTURE OUTLOOK
“The road to continuous success comes through hard work.”

As we look back on our journey, we are confident that we can create a brighter year ahead, despite the fact 
that the epidemic in the past two years has had a significant impact on our vision and caused many 
unexpected difficulties. The year 2022 marks a milestone for China to march towards the second centenary 
goal, a critical year after the beginning of the 14th Five-Year Plan, and also the opening year of 
transformation and upgrading of DTXS. The listed company will actively transform, deploy and promote the 
industrial development mode of “culture + technology” and actively engage in the operation of digital culture 
and artworks. The Company will fully focus on the crucial role of technology in innovation and accelerate the 
application of “Da Tang Chain” and “Da Tang Cloud”. We will strive to complete the construction and sale of 
the remaining properties under construction in the DTXS Silk Road International Financial Center Project. 
Focusing on the main business of “One Center, Two Complexes”, namely an international cultural artworks 
trading center, a cultural tourism complex and a science and technology industry-academia-research complex, 
we will vigorously develop cultural industries, cultural undertakings and digital economy in an effort to expand 
our scale.

Let’s bear the vision and dream for a better future in our hearts to keep us striding in vigorous and 
determined endeavors along with the trend of the times to create great achievements in the future.
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APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank our shareholders, partners and customers for their strong 
support, and express our sincere gratitude to all of our management team and employees for their endeavors 
and contribution to the Group. The Group will create more value for the shareholders, partners, customers and 
employees through condensing the wisdom and efforts of the team and strengthening its confidence for 
development.

Lu Jianzhong
Chairman

31 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group’s revenue from continuing operations recorded approximately HK$107.4 million for the year (2020: 
HK$193.1 million), representing a decrease of approximately 44% as compared with 2020, which was mainly 
due to the decrease in revenue from sales of merchandises and decrease in auction commission income. The 
Group recorded loss of approximately HK$34.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 as compared 
with a profit of approximately HK$30.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The loss for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 was mainly attributable to the decrease in auction commission income and the 
allowance for the expected credit losses on trade and other receivables.

Arts and Cultural Division
This division, comprising the auction business and the Art Central Business District (“ACBD”) business, 
contributed a segment revenue of approximately HK$49.1 million (2020: HK$75.5 million), and a segment 
profit before tax of approximately HK$23.6 million (2020: HK$49.3 million) for the year ended 31 December 
2021.

Due to the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”), as well as precautionary measures and 
pandemic prevention policy adopted by Hong Kong and cities in Mainland China, only two physical auctions 
were held in Beijing and Hainan Island in January 2021 and June 2021 respectively. The types of auction items 
are diversified, covering bronze mirrors, inscriptions on the stone tablets, paintings, and calligraphies, etc. 
Three online auctions were held in the first quarter of 2021 covering bronze mirrors and old coins. The 
decreases in both segment revenue and segment profit before tax were mainly attributable to the decrease in 
commission income received in 2021, while there was commission income of approximately HK$28.1 million 
received from previous auctions held in the prior periods and recorded in 2020.

The Company had established an ACBD center in Xi’an. The main business functions of the center are to 
provide integrated functions of storage, exhibition, auction, promotion and trading of arts and collections. The 
center aims to create a strong network with other art and culture partners for hosting events and building 
relationship. Also, the center is expected to create a synergy effect with the operations of Silk Road 
International Culture Center.

Winery and Trading Division
The Group had realigned the Winery division and e-Commerce division to Winery and Trading division to align 
with the Group’s long-term business strategy during the year ended 31 December 2020. This division, 
comprising the winery business and trading business, contributed a segment revenue of approximately HK$9.9 
million (2020: HK$107.7 million), and a segment loss before tax of approximately HK$29.0 million (2020: 
HK$6.2 million) for the year ended 31 December 2021. Such increase in the loss was mainly due to the 
allowance for the expected credit losses on receivables of the trading business as a result of the challenging 
economic conditions during the year.

Since 2020, we have been cooperating with world-renowned painters and master brewers to develop a sizable 
product line with characteristics of the winery products of DTXS, which gradually becomes one of the major 
business of the Group. It was encouraging that we received an outstanding 92 points from James Suckling’s 
2019 tasting report, gold medal and silver medal from Bruelles Global Competition 2021. Although sales plans 
of wines have been delayed amid the COVID-19 pandemic, we proactively set up various distribution channels 
and organise wine promotion campaigns in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Europe to create earnings and 
brand awareness for the Chateau Puy Bardens.
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Property Development Division
This division contributed a segment revenue of approximately HK$48.5 million (2020: HK$10.0 million) and a 
segment profit before tax of approximately HK$4.8 million (2020: segment loss of HK$4.4 million) for the year 
ended 31 December 2021. The segment revenue and segment profit before tax were mainly attributed to the 
sales of properties occurred during the year.

The properties are located in Tang West Market, Lianhu District in Xi’an City, the People’s Republic of China 
(the “PRC”). Based on the current business plan, the properties have been planned to develop into the Silk 
Road International Culture Center with comprehensive cultural artworks operations, cultural artwork financing 
and Silk Road international cultural entertainment complex. The Silk Road International Culture Center is 
designed with three major features, namely (i) the headquarter of Silk Road Chamber of International 
Commerce; (ii) Artwork Central Business District; and (iii) the European section of Silk Road Culture Street. Silk 
Road International Culture Center comprises three office buildings, a shopping mall and a five-star hotel. The 
three office buildings are estimated to have an aggregate gross floor area of approximately 260,000 sq.m. On 
12 September 2021, a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group has separately entered into property sale 
agreements with four independent purchasers in relation to the sale of commercial properties (the “Property 
Sale”) located in Tang West Market, Lianhu District in Xi’an City, the PRC with a total gross floor area of 
approximately 22,982 square metres. The aggregate consideration for the Property Sale is approximately 
RMB471 million. The sales of properties are transactions of revenue in nature and in the ordinary and usual 
course of business of the Group. Further details of the sale of properties are set out in the Company’s 
announcement dated 13 September 2021. With the collaboration of the management expertise of the Group, 
the Group is confident to develop cultural artworks operations and cultural artwork financing businesses after 
the completion.

OUTLOOK
The economic slowdown arisen from the continuous outbreak of COVID-19 as well as geo-political tensions 
have adversely affected the businesses and operations of the Group, the Group recorded a loss in the year of 
2021. In response to the policy of infection prevention and control of epidemic, number of social gatherings 
will be reduced to avoid cluster infection, thus affecting commission income of auctions and the sales of wine. 
All businesses are under more pressure with the economic slowdown during the year. The Group has been 
endeavouring to explore any means of cooperation, focusing on development in the cultural industry by 
leveraging on the business network and resources of the parent company, and to develop businesses in Hainan 
Island and Xi’an around the cultural industries and business relating to financing, including operations and 
auction of cultural artworks, participation in the international artwork trading platform, creation and 
distribution of art collectibles in the form of non-fungible tokens (NFT) and digital artworks (DAW), investment 
in cultural industrial parks and the development of experience in cultural tourism.

HEDGING, ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL AND SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
The Group did not (i) employ any financial instruments for hedging purposes; (ii) undertake any material 
acquisitions or disposals of assets, business or subsidiaries; or (iii) make any significant investments during the 
year under review.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
During the year, the Company conducted an exercise based on an enterprise risk management framework, to 
review and update the risks facing by the Group. The Group’s key risks and uncertainties are summarised as 
below:

1. Strategic Risks
(i) Adverse ad hoc external events and inability to respond to them in time

(ii) Risk of downturn in global and Chinese economy as well as fluctuations of financial market 
environment

(iii) Keen market competition in property development and auction

2. Operation Risks
(i) Failure to complete construction projects on time

(ii) Risk of authentication, appraisal and valuation of artworks

(iii) Ineffective know-your-client and anti-money-laundering management

(iv) Risk of damage or theft for artworks consigned for sale

(v) Insufficient data loss prevention mechanism and failure in data retention

3. Financial Risks
(i) Risk of default or delay payment by customers and/or auction buyers

(ii) Failure to fully recover advances to consignors

(iii) Inadequate funding and liquidity to the auction business

4. Governance, Compliance and Legal Risks
(i) Failure to obtain necessary control over newly acquired subsidiaries

(ii) Risk of non-compliance with disclosure requirements with the Listing Rules

(iii) Risk of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and not able to respond to changes in 
laws and regulations timely

(iv) Risk of information security and data leakage

In response to the risks mentioned above, the Company has formulated and adopted the risk management 
policy in providing directions in evaluating and management significant risks. In addition, the Company has 
engaged an external professional to conduct annual review on the effectiveness of the internal control system 
of the Group.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
During the year under review, the Group’s operations and acquisition activities were mainly financed by draw-
down of bank borrowings and internal resources.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$28.1 
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$165.3 million as compared with the bank balances and 
cash of approximately HK$193.4 million as at 31 December 2020. The decrease was mainly attributable to the 
additional financial resources deployed in the properties planned to develop into the Silk Road International 
Culture Center as previously mentioned during the year. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had outstanding 
secured borrowings of approximately HK$1,659.1 million (2020: HK$711.8 million) and is repayable one month 
to three years (2020: within one year).

GEARING
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by the equity attributable to 
equity holders of the Company. Net debt includes total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. The 
gearing ratio of the Group was approximately 142.1% as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 44.8%).

SUBSEQUENT EVENT
There were no significant events after the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this annual 
report.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE
The Group’s assets and liabilities are mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and Renminbi, representing 
the functional currency of respective group companies. Income and expenses derived from the operations in 
the PRC are mainly denominated in Renminbi.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong Dollars) using 
exchange rates prevailing at 31 December 2021. Income and expense items are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the year ended 31 December 2021. Exchange gain arising from the translation of foreign 
operations of approximately HK$17.4 million (2020: HK$41.7 million) for the year ended 31 December 2021 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of “exchange 
differences on translation of foreign operations”.

On the disposal of a foreign operation involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign 
operation, the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the 
equity holders of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

HUMAN RESOURCES
As at 31 December 2021, other than outsourcing vendors but including contract workers, the Group has 
approximately 109 employees (2020: 125) in Hong Kong, the PRC and France. The Group encourages high 
productivity and remunerates its employees based on their qualification, work experiences, prevailing market 
prices and contribution to the Group. Incentives in the form of bonuses and share options may also be offered 
to eligible employees based on individual performance.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND FINANCIAL GUARANTEES
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had contingent liabilities in respect of (i) potential claims from property 
buyers in connection with certain non-compliance of approximately HK$2.4 million (2020: HK$3.1 million); and 
(ii) guarantees to banks in respect of loans provided by the banks to the customers from property 
development division and to a related party in the aggregate amount of approximately HK$537.4 million 
(2020: HK$538.0 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENT
As at 31 December 2021, the Group has capital commitments amounted to approximately HK$870.8 million 
(2020: HK$1,343.6 million).
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Lu Jianzhong (“Mr. Lu”), aged 58, was appointed as the chairman and an executive director of the 
Company on 8 December 2015, and the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company on 30 
March 2017. Mr. Lu graduated from Northwestern Polytechnical University (西北工業大學) with a Master in 
Industrial Engineering. He is the founding chairman and director of Da Tang Xi Shi Investments Group 
Limited* (大唐西市文化產業投資集團有限公司) (“DTXS Investment”), the ultimate controlling shareholder of 
the Company.

Mr. Lu is also the 13th National People’s Congress, the member of the 10th, 11th and 12th Chinese People’s 
Political Consultative Conference, the chairman of the Silk Road Chamber of International Commerce (絲綢之
路國際總商會), the president of Non state Museums Committee of Chinese Museums Association (中國博物館
協會非國有博物館專業委員會), and the vice president of Chinese Association for International Understanding 
(中國國際交流協會) and China Chamber of International Commerce (中國國際商會).

Mr. Lu has been awarded “The Third Session of National Outstanding Builders of the Socialism with Chinese 
Characteristic” (全國第三屆優秀中國特色社會主義事業建設者); “Annual Outstanding Individual of China Cultural 
Heritage Protection” (薪火相傳 — 中國文化遺產保護年度傑出人物); “Chinese Culture Leading Figure” (中華
文化人物); “Annual Leading Figure of Chinese People” (中華兒女年度人物); “Top Ten Leading Figure of China 
Private Enterprises” (中國民營企業十大人物); “The Outstanding Shaanxi Businessman” (全球秦商風雲人物); and 
“Annual Leading Figure of Culture Industry in 2013” (2013中國文化產業年度人物).

Mr. Yang Xingwen (“Mr. Yang”), aged 59, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 8 
December 2015. He was appointed as a member of investment committee of the Company on 26 June 2020. 
Mr. Yang graduated from Beijing Language and Literature Self-Study University (北京語言文學自修大學), with 
an associate degree in literature. He also studied at the Central Party School Correspondence College (中央黨
校函授學院), majoring in economics, and obtained the professional title of economist. Mr. Yang has extensive 
financial and accounting experience, he is currently serving as the vice chairman of DTXS Investment and is in-
charging of all financial matters of DTXS Investment and its subsidiaries. He is also a shareholder of DTXS 
Investment. Mr. Yang began his career in Shaanxi province and previously held offices at Shaanxi Jia Xin 
Industry Group Company Limited* (陝西佳鑫實業集團有限公司).

Dr. Ma Chao (“Dr. Ma”), aged 46, was appointed as an executive director of the Company and serves as the 
chairman of investment committee and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company with effect 
from 1 February 2021.

Dr. Ma, holds a doctoral degree in economics from Northwest University in the People’s Republic of China. Dr. 
Ma is the president of DTXS Investment. Dr. Ma has been in senior management positions at various 
enterprises for over 20 years and has extensive management experience.

* For identification purpose only
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Dr. Xu Zhihong (“Dr. Xu”), aged 59, was appointed as an Executive Director, an Executive Vice-chairman and 
the Chairman of the Investment Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company 
on 1 April 2022. Dr. Xu, had been appointed as a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 16 June 
2020. He then had been appointed as an Executive Director and a member of the Investment Committee of 
the Company, also had been re-designated as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 1 September 
2020. He further was re-designated as a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 12 March 2021. He 
resigned as an Executive Director and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company, also ceased to be a 
member of the Investment Committee of the Company on 1 September 2021.

Dr. Xu graduated from Anhui Finance and Trade Vocational College with a Bachelor of Economics degree, and 
then obtained a Master of Business Administration degree from Oklahoma City University and a Doctorate 
degree in Economics from Renmin University of China. He was the managing director of Wing Lung Bank 
Limited and general manager of the Financial Markets Department of Industrial and Commercial Bank of 
China, and has extensive experience in corporate financial planning. Dr. Xu was a director and deputy general 
manager of China Dive Company Limited (stock code: 300526), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock 
Exchange, from 2 December 2019 to 3 June 2020. Dr. Xu has received the honour of Special Government 
Allowances of the State Council as a National Expert (國務院特殊津貼專家), and he has also served as a 
committee member of the Financial Products Committee of the People’s Bank of China and a council member 
of the China Urban Financial Society.

Mr. Kam Hou Yin John (“Mr. Kam”), aged 49, was appointed as an executive director of the Company and 
a member of investment committee of the Company on 1 September 2021. He was appointed as the co-chief 
executive officer of the Company on 12 March 2021 and re-designated as the chief executive officer on 1 
September 2021.

Mr. Kam graduated from PBC School of Finance at Tsinghua University in the People’s Republic of China with 
an executive master’s degree in Business Administration and from The University of Manchester in the United 
Kingdom with a master’s degree in Business Administration. He is a fellow member of The Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”) and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Mr. Kam was a senior partner of Zhenzhen Zhujin Supply Chain Services Company 
Limited from November 2018 to February 2021. He was an executive director and the chief executive officer 
of Century Ginwa Retail Holdings Limited (stock code: 162) from May 2017 to October 2018. Mr. Kam has 
over 20 years’ experience in corporate, personal and interbank business. He was Zone Manager of Corporate 
Banking Division and General Manager of Shenzhen Branch of The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited from July 
2012 to April 2017 and Zone Manager (Western China) of Corporate Banking Division and General Manager 
of Xi’an Branch of The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited from November 2006 to June 2012. Mr. Kam has 
been appointed as an independent non-executive Director of China Ocean Fishing Holdings Limited (stock 
code: 8047) since March 2020. Mr. Kam was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of KOALA 
Financial Group Limited (stock code: 8226) from September 2017 to April 2019. Mr. Kam is a member of 
Standing Committee of the 5th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Futian District, Shenzhen, 
a member of ACCA China Expert Forum, and he is an expert juror of the Shenzhen Qianhai Operation Zone’s 
People’s Court.
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Mr. Wong Kwok Tung Gordon Allan (“Mr. Wong”), aged 47, was appointed as an executive director of the 
Company on 29 July 2015 and the chief executive officer and a member of the remuneration committee of 
the Company on 2 November 2015. He was appointed as a member of investment committee of the 
Company on 26 June 2020. He was subsequently re-designated from the chief executive officer to the deputy 
chief executive officer of the Company on 7 August 2017 and resigned as a member of the remuneration 
committee of the Company on 28 March 2018. Mr. Wong is a director of Da Tang Xi Shi International 
Holdings Limited, immediate controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wong has extensive financial and 
accounting experience in various industries, and has previously worked in an accounting firm and an 
investment bank. He holds a Bachelor degree of commerce from the University of Sydney and is a member of 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia.

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing (“Mr. Kwok”), aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-executive director, 
chairman of audit committee and member of nomination committee and remuneration committee of the 
Company on 29 May 2020. Mr. Kwok graduated from The University of Aberdeen, the United Kingdom in July 
1986 with a master’s degree in arts in economics with accountancy. He has been a chartered accountant in 
Scotland, the United Kingdom since November 1989 when he worked and qualified with the Edinburgh office 
of KPMG. He has been a certified public accountant, certificate tax advisor and certified financial planner in 
Hong Kong since January 1991, June 1992 and October 2001 respectively. He became a member of China 
Mergers & Acquisitions Association in March 2014. He has more than 20 years of experience in audit 
assurance, cross border taxation and project finance. He is currently the director of LKKC C.P.A. Limited. Mr. 
Kwok has been a director of Pok Oi Hospital, Hong Kong since 2015 and he was appointed as the founding 
second vice president of the Lions Club of Hong Kong New Territories West Limited in 2015.

Mr. Kwok is currently an independent non-executive director in a number of Hong Kong listed companies, 
namely Bonjour Holdings Limited (stock code: 0653), Hang Chi Holdings Limited (stock code: 8405) and 
Fantasia Holdings Group Co., Limited (stock code: 1777). He resigned as an independent non-executive director 
of Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 8622), Grand Ocean Advanced Resources 
Company Limited (stock code: 0065) and EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited (stock code: 3860) 
respectively on 1 September 2020, 18 September 2020 and 30 June 2021 respectively. Mr. Kwok was an 
independent non-executive director of Cityneon Holdings Limited, which was listed on the Singapore Exchange 
Limited until its withdrawal from listing effective on 1 February 2019, up to his resignation in March 2019.
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Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper (“Mr. Tsang”), aged 73, was appointed as an independent non-executive director 
and serves as a member of the audit committee of the Company with effect from 1 September 2020.

Mr. Tsang, G.B.M., G.B.S., J.P. , is Honorary Professor of the Faculty of Social Science of The Chinese University 
of Hong Kong and the Convenor of Hong Kong Vision Research Programme. Mr. Tsang currently serves as an 
independent non-executive director of Beijing Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited (Stock code: 
3613) and Kunlun Energy Company Limited (Stock code: 135) which are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited.

Mr. Tsang held a number of posts in public service, including the President of the Fourth and the Fifth 
Legislative Council of the HKSAR from 2008 to 2016. Prior to his election as President of the Legislative 
Council of the HKSAR, Mr. Tsang served as a member of the Legislative Council from 1998 to 2016, 
representing the Kowloon West constituency from 1998 to 2008 and the Hong Kong Island constituency form 
2008 to 2016. He served as a member of the Executive Council of the HKSAR from 2002 to 2008. From 
1992 to 2003, he served as chairman of the Democratic Alliance for the Betterment of Hong Kong. Mr. Tsang 
was actively involved in the establishment of the HKSAR. He served as a member of the Preparatory 
Committee established by the Standing Committee of the Chinese National People’s Congress in 1996 and a 
member of the Provisional Legislative Council of the HKSAR from 1997 to 1998. Mr. Tsang was a member of 
the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference from 1993 to 2013, a non-
executive director of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission from 2001 to 2007, a member of the 
Executive Committee of the Commission on Strategic Development from 2005 to 2008, a board member of 
the Airport Authority Hong Kong from 2005 to 2008, a member of the Independent Commission Against 
Corruption Complaints Committee from 2003 to 2008 and a member of the Disaster Relief Fund Advisory 
Committee from 2002 to 2008. Mr. Tsang also served as a member of the Council of The Open University of 
Hong Kong from 1996 to 2005 and a member of the Standing Committee on Language Education and 
Research from 1996 to 2000. Mr. Tsang obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree at The University of Hong Kong 
in 1968, Certificate in Education at the University of Hong Kong in 1981 and a Master of Education degree at 
the University of Hong Kong in 1983. Mr. Tsang was appointed as a Justice of the Peace (J.P.) in 1998 and 
was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star (G.B.S.) in 2002 and the Grand Bauhinia Medal (G.B.M.) in 2015.

Mr. Tse Yung Hoi (“Mr. Tse”), aged 69, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 8 
December 2015 and re-designated to an independent non-executive director of the Company on 16 
November 2017. He was also appointed as a member of the audit committee of the Company on 1 May 
2019 and subsequently was appointed as the Chairman of Remuneration Committee and a member of the 
Nomination Committee on 29 May 2020. Mr. Tse graduated from English studies from the department of 
foreign language of Fudan University in July 1975. He is currently the chairman of BOCI-Prudential Asset 
Management Limited. Mr. Tse serves as Standing Committee Member of The Chinese General Chamber of 
Commerce, Hong Kong and Permanent Honorary President of Chinese Securities Association of Hong Kong. He 
was a Member of HKSAR Financial Services Development Council. Mr. Tse is the independent non-executive 
director of BOCOM International Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 3329) and Vico International Holdings 
Limited (stock code: 1621). He resigned as an independent non-executive director of Guoan International 
Limited (stock code: 143), Huafa Property Services Group Company Limited (stock code: 982), Jinmao Hotel 
and Jinmao (China) Hotel Investments and Management Limited (stock code: 6139) and China Tower 
Corporation Limited (stock code: 788) respectively on 1 June 2020, 20 July 2020, 4 October 2020 and 
14 January 2022. All companies are listed in Hong Kong. He also serves as an independent non-executive 
director of Shenzhen Qianhai Financial Holdings Company Ltd and Banco Well Link, S.A. Mr. Tse was awarded 
the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the government of HKSAR in 2013.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Wang Yong, aged 53, was appointed as a deputy chief executive officer of the Company on 1 December 
2019. He focuses on business development and operation of the art and cultural division of the Group. He has 
been the director and vice president of DTXS Investment since 2009. He has been also the chairman of Beijing 
Phoenixstar International Auction Co., Ltd.* (北京景星麟鳳國際拍賣有限公司) and the chairman and general 
manager of Beijing Phoenixstar Information Consultancy Company Limited* (北京景星麟鳳資訊諮詢有限公司) 
since 2016, both of which are the subsidiaries of the Company, and the director of the art and cultural 
division of a subsidiary of the Company since 2017.

Mr. Wang Yong is the vice chairman and associate researcher of the committee of Xi’an Tang West Market 
Museum* (西安大唐西市博物館), the chairman of DTXS International Auction Co., Ltd* (大唐西市國際拍賣有
限公司), the secretary-general of Non State Museum Committee of Chinese Museums Association* (中國博物
館協會非國有博物館專業委員會), the secretary-general of the Silk Road Committee of Dunhuang-Turfan 
Society* (中國敦煌吐魯番學會絲綢之路專業委員會), the deputy secretary-general of China Cultural Chamber 
of Commerce for the Private Sector* (中國民營文化產業商會), the member and deputy secretary-general of the 
Shaanxi Cultural Relics Committee* (陝西省文物鑒定委員會) and the member of the 13th Xi’an Municipal 
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. Wang Yong obtained a bachelor’s degree from the Faculty of Arts and Culture, Northwest University. He 
served as deputy director of Xi’an Cultural Relics Protection and Restoration Centre* (西安文物保護修復中心) 
and the secretary-general and vice dean of Cultural Heritage Protection Planning and Design Institute of 
Shaanxi Province* (陝西省文化遺產保護規劃設計研究院). He has over 20 years of experience in cultural 
industry operations, specialized in relic protection management, relic and artwork authentication and art 
financing and investment.

Mr. Wang Qun, aged 33, was appointed as a deputy chief executive officer of the Company on 1 September 
2021. He focuses on business development and operation of the winery division of the Group. He has been 
the director and general manager of Da Tang Xi Shi International Wine & Spirits Trade (SZ) Company Limited* 
(大唐西市酒業國際貿易(深圳)有限公司) since 2020. Mr. Wang Qun, obtained a bachelor degree in 
management from Nankai University in 2010 and obtained a master degree in international management from 
University of Bordeaux IV. He also holds a diploma in the consultant of sommelier. He has more than 11 years 
of professional theoretical study and management experience in the production, trade, marketing, technology 
of the global wine and spirits industry.

Mr. Wang Qun was the marketing and trade manager for the Asian market and wine assistant of Chateau de 
Chainchon in Bordeaux since 2011 and served as a co-founder and managing director of Xinjiang Datang West 
Winery Co., Ltd.* (新疆大唐西域酒庄股份有限公司) for 5 years since 2012. He was elected into the Xinjiang 
Uygur Autonomous Region High-level Talent Introduction Program Expert Project* (新疆維吾爾自治區高層次人
才引進工程專家專案) in 2014. Mr. Wang Qun was elected into the honorary member of the French Wine 
Order and awarded the wine medal in 2015. He is the evaluation member of 6th National Specially Invited 
Judge for Wine and Fruit Wine* (第六屆葡萄酒果酒國家特邀評委) of China National Food Industry Association.

Tsang Ngo Yin (“Ms. Tsang”) was appointed as the company secretary and the chief financial officer of the 
Company on 2 November 2020. Ms. Tsang graduated from Simon Fraser University in Canada with a Bachelor 
of Business Administration Degree, and further obtained a Bachelor of Laws Degree from Tsinghua University 
in the People’s Republic of China and a Master of Laws Degree in International Corporate and Financial Law 
from University of Wolverhampton in the United Kingdom. Ms. Tsang has over of 20 years of extensive 
experiences in regulatory compliance, financial reporting, corporate finance projects, internal control, auditing 
and financial management, including experience as the company secretary in Hong Kong listed company. She 
is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and also a member of HKICPA.

* For identification purpose only
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (the 
“Company”) is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Group is principally engaged in (i) auction business and arts and collections related business; (ii) trading 
business including making and sales of wine; and (iii) properties investment and development. The principal 
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during 
the financial year and a discussion on the Group’s future business development and outlook of the Company’s 
business, principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing, and important events affecting the 
Company occurred since the end of the financial year are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s 
Statement” on pages 3 to 5 and the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 10 
of this annual report. These discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group supports sustainable development by conducting its business in an environmentally responsible 
manner. It has established a culture of energy saving in business operations and carried out various measures 
to mitigate its carbon emissions.

Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance during the financial year are set out in the 
section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 41 to 56 of this annual report. 
These discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant 
impact on the business and operations of the Group. During the financial year, there was no material breach 
of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
Employees are one of the most important assets of the Group and their contribution and support are valuable. 
The Group would regularly review the employees’ compensation and benefits packages to reward and 
recognise those with outstanding performance. Other fringe benefits, such as employees’ provident fund and 
share options, if applicable, are provided to attract and retain talents helping the Group in success.

The Group maintains effective communications with its customers and strives to satisfy customers’ 
requirements from time to time, in order to provide high quality services to its customers.

The Group establishes co-operative relationships with reputable suppliers within the industries and conducts a 
fair appraisal of its suppliers on regular intervals.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the state of affairs of the Group and the 
Company at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 157 of this annual 
report.
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The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or 
recommending dividends:

• the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

• retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the subsidiaries of the Group;

• the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

• the Group’s liquidity position;

• general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and internal or external factors that 
may have an impact on the business, financial results and position of the Company; and

• other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the applicable laws and regulations and the 
bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-Laws”). The Board will review such policy as appropriate from time to 
time.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the financial year, the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate was 29% (2020: 54%) of the total 
revenue of the Group and the largest customer included therein amounted to 7% (2020: 20%).

The percentage of purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group in aggregate was 55% 
(2020: 88%) of the total purchases of the Group and the largest supplier included therein amounted to 33% 
(2020: 34%).

During the financial year, none of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders of the Company 
(the “Shareholders”) (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the issued shares of the 
Company) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to the results by business segments and geographical 
information for the financial year are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A financial summary of the published results of the Group and of its assets and liabilities for the last five 
financial years is set out on page 158 of this annual report. The summary does not form part of the 
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the financial year are set out in Note 34 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES
Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the financial year are set out in the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on page 68 and Note 36 to the consolidated financial 
statements respectively.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Details of the Group’s other movements in non-current assets (including properties, plant and equipment, 
investment properties, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, goodwill, financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss and properties under development) during the financial year are set out in Notes 18, 19, 20, 
21, 22, 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS
Particulars of the borrowings of the Group are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR PROPERTY HELD
The following table sets out the particulars of the major property held by the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2021:

Location

Approximate 
gross floor 

area
Group’s 
interest Land use Leasehold term

(sq.m.) (%)     

1st floor shop section, 5th floor 
function room section and 
6th floor exhibition section, 
Tang Dynasty West Market 
Hotel, No. 118 South Labor 
Road, Lianhu District, Xi’an 
City, Shanxi Province, the 
People’s Republic of China 
(the “PRC”)

3,408.53 100% Commercial, hotel 
catering and 
exhibition centre 
and function 
room

Medium

North of South 2nd Ring Road 
and the east of Tao Yuan 
South Road, Lianhu District, 
Xi’an City, Shaanxi Province, 
the PRC

2,067.66 69.97% Residential, retail 
units and flat 
and mechanical 
parking spaces

Medium

No. 188 Laodong South Road, 
Lianhu District, Xi’an City, 
Shaanxi Province, the PRC

9,557.40 69.97% Residential, retail 
units and flat 
and mechanical 
parking spaces

Medium

No. 118 Laodong South Road, 
Lianhu District, Xi’an City, 
Shaanxi Province, the PRC

257,474.56 69.97% Commercial, and 
exhibition centre

Medium
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) during the financial year and up to the date of this annual 
report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lu Jianzhong (Chairman)
Mr. Yang Xingwen
Dr. Ma Chao (Executive Vice-chairman)  (appointed on 1 February 2021)
Mr. Kam Hou Yin John (Chief Executive Officer)  (appointed on 1 September 2021)
Mr. Wong Kwok Tung Gordon Allan (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Xu Lin (Executive Vice-chairman)  (resigned on 1 February 2021)
Dr. Xu Zhihong (Co-Chief Executive Officer)  (resigned on 1 September 2021)

Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry (resigned on 19 March 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tse Yung Hoi
Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing

Biographical details of the Directors as of the date of this annual report are set out in the section headed 
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 11 to 15 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of 
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on 
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company considers that all the 
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2022 AGM has a service contract with the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of 
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force 
throughout the financial year. The Company has taken out and maintained Directors and Officers liability 
insurance that provides appropriate cover for the Directors and the officers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND 
CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” below and in the section headed “Related 
Party Transactions” in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements and 
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
was a party and in which a Director or his or her connected entity has or had a material interest, whether 
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial year or at any time during the financial year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of any 
business of the Group were entered into or existed during the financial year.

COMPETING BUSINESS INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
During the financial year, the following Director(s) were considered to have interests in the following 
businesses (“Competing Business”) which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with 
the businesses of the Group as defined in the Listing Rules as set out below:

Name of Director
Name of entity of the 
Competing Business

Description of the Competing 
Business

Nature of interest 
of the Director  
in the entity    

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun,  
Henry

New World Development 
Company Limited and 
its group of companies

Retail of consumer products, duty 
free liquor, fine wines and 
cosmetics and general 
merchandise, construction of 
building, and provision of 
transportation services

Director

As the Board is independent from the board of directors of the aforesaid companies, and as none of the 
above Director controls the Board, the Group is capable of carrying on its business independently of, and at 
arm’s length from, the businesses of the aforesaid companies.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors were interested in any businesses apart from the Company’s 
businesses, which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s 
businesses during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
Save as disclosed below in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions 
in Shares and Underlying Shares” and “Share Option Scheme”, at no time during the financial year was the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, their respective spouse 
or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures 
of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the 
Company or any of their associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its 
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), 
which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have 
under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) to be recorded into the register kept by the Company pursuant to 
section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model 
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model 
Code”), were as follows:

(a) Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company 

Number of ordinary shares of 
HK$0.50 each and nature of 

interests
Number of 

share options(4)

Name of Director
Personal 
interests

Corporate 
interests

Number of 
underlying 

shares held
Personal 
interests

Total  
interests

Approximate 
percentage of 
shareholding(5)

       

Mr. Lu Jianzhong 4,996,000 383,473,032(1,2) 111,187,538(3) 3,500,000 503,156,570 75.38%
Mr. Yang Xingwen — — — 2,500,000 2,500,000 0.37%
Dr. Ma Chao — — — 3,000,000 3,000,000 0.45%
Mr. Wong Kwok Tung 

Gordon Allan

— — — 2,500,000 2,500,000 0.37%

Mr. Tse Yung Hoi — — — 250,000 250,000 0.04%
Mr. Kam Hou Yin John — — — 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.30%

Notes:

1. 383,473,032 shares were held by Da Tang Xi Shi International Holdings Limited (“DTXS International Holdings”). 
DTXS International Holdings was wholly-owned by Da Tang Xi Shi International Group Limited, which was 
wholly-owned by Da Tang Xi Shi Investments Group Limited* (大唐西市文化產業投資集團有限公司) (“DTXS 
Investment”). Mr. Lu Jianzhong, being the controlling shareholder of DTXS Investment, was interested in 
approximately 50.60% of the issued registered capital of DTXS Investment. As such, Mr. Lu Jianzhong was 
deemed to be interested in 383,473,032 shares.

2. 339,616,000 shares held by DTXS International Holdings were pledged in favour of the third party lenders as 
security.

3. 111,187,538 underlying Shares represent the number of option shares that may be sold by Ion Tech Limited 
(“Ion Tech”) as grantee to DTXS International Holdings as grantor pursuant to the exercise of the put option or 
the triggered put option (as the case may be) pursuant to the put option deed dated 16 July 2019 (the “Put 
Option Deed”).

4. Particulars of share options of the Company are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this 
Directors’ Report.

5. The total number of issued shares was 667,525,230 as at 31 December 2021.

* For identification purpose only
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(b) Interests in shares of DTXS Investment, an associated corporation of the Company

Name of Director
Number of  

shares

Approximate 
percentage of  

issued registered 
capital of  

DTXS Investment   

Mr. Lu Jianzhong 110,000,000 50.60%
Mr. Yang Xingwen 30,000,000 13.80%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors or the chief executives of the 
Company and any of their associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in any 
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in the register required to be kept by the 
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which had been notified to the Company and the 
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES 
AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 December 2021, the persons or corporations (not being a Director or chief executive of the 
Company) who had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares which would fall to be 
disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required 
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

Name of shareholder Nature of interests/capacity

Number of  
ordinary shares of 

HK$0.50 each(1)

Approximate 
percentage of 

shareholding(14)

    

DTXS International Holdings(2) Beneficial owner 494,660,570 (L)(12,13) 74.10%
Da Tang Xi Shi International Group Limited(2) Interests in controlled corporation 494,660,570 (L)(12,13) 74.10%
DTXS Investment(2) Interests in controlled corporation 494,660,570 (L)(12,13) 74.10%
Ms. Zhu Ronghua(3) Interests of spouse 503,156,570 (L) 75.38%
Ion Tech Beneficial owner 111,187,538 (L) 16.66%

111,187,538 (S)(11)

Citiplus Investment Limited(4) Interests in controlled corporation 111,187,538 (L) 16.66%
111,187,538 (S)(11)

New World Development Company Limited(5) Interests in controlled corporation 111,187,538 (L) 16.66%
111,187,538 (S)(11)

Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited(6) Interests in controlled corporation 111,187,538 (L) 16.66%
111,187,538 (S)(11)

Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited(7) Interests in controlled corporation 111,187,538 (L) 16.66%
111,187,538 (S)(11)

Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited(8) Interests in controlled corporation 111,187,538 (L) 16.66%
111,187,538 (S)(11)

Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II) Limited(9) Interests in controlled corporation 111,187,538 (L) 16.66%
111,187,538 (S)(11)

Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited(10) Interests in controlled corporation 111,187,538 (L) 16.66%
111,187,538 (S)(11)
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Notes:

1. The letters “L” and “S” denote a long position and a short position in the Shares respectively.

2. DTXS International Holdings was wholly-owned by Da Tang Xi Shi International Group Limited, which was wholly-owned 
by DTXS Investment, which was owned as to approximately 50.60% by Mr. Lu Jianzhong and approximately 13.80% 
by Mr. Yang Xingwen.

3. Ms. Zhu Ronghua was deemed to be interested in 503,156,570 shares through the interests held by her spouse, Mr. 
Lu Jianzhong.

4. Citiplus Investment Limited (“Citiplus”) held 100% direct interest in Ion Tech Limited and was accordingly deemed to 
have an interest in the Shares held by Ion Tech Limited.

5. New World Development Company Limited (“NWD”) held 100% direct interest in Citiplus and was accordingly deemed 
to have an interest in the Shares deemed to be interested by Citiplus.

6. Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited (“CTFE”), together with its subsidiaries, held more than one third of the issued 
shares of NWD and was accordingly deemed to have an interest in the Shares deemed to be interested by NWD.

7. Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited (“CTFH”) held 100% direct interest in CTFE and was accordingly deemed to have an 
interest in the Shares deemed to be interested by CTFE.

8. Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited (“CTFC”) held approximately 81.03% direct interest in CTFH and accordingly deemed 
to have an interest in the Shares deemed to be interested by CTFH.

9. Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II) Limited (“CYTFH-II”) held approximately 46.65% direct interest in CTFC and was 
accordingly deemed to have an interest in the Shares deemed to be interested by CTFC.

10. Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited (“CYTFH”) held approximately 48.98% direct interest in CTFC and was 
accordingly deemed to have an interest in the Shares deemed to be interested by CTFC.

11. Ion Tech entered into the subscription agreement dated 16 July 2019 to conditionally subscribe for 111,187,538 Shares, 
and in connection therewith, DTXS International Holdings conditionally granted a put option to Ion Tech to require 
DTXS International Holdings to purchase all or part of the option shares pursuant to the Put Option Deed.

12. Comprises 383,473,032 Shares held by DTXS International Holdings and 111,187,538 underlying Shares representing 
the number of option shares that may be sold by Ion Tech to DTXS International Holdings pursuant to the exercise of 
the put option or the triggered put option (as the case may be) pursuant to the Put Option Deed.

13. 339,616,000 shares held by DTXS International Holdings were pledged in favour of the third party lenders as security.

14. The total number of issued shares was 667,525,230 as at 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors were not aware of any other person or 
corporation having an interest or short position in shares and underlying shares as recorded in the register 
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
A share option scheme was adopted by the Shareholders on 6 December 2012 (the “2012 Scheme”). A 
summary of the principal terms of the 2012 Scheme is set out below:

1. Purpose: (i) To recognise and acknowledge the contributions 
eligible participants had or may have made to the Group; 
and (ii) to provide eligible participants an opportunity to 
have a personal stake in the Company with the view to 
achieving the following objectives: (a) motivate the eligible 
participants to optimise their performance and efficiency 
for the benefit of the Group; and (b) attract and retain or 
otherwise maintain on-going business relationship with the 
eligible participants whose contributions are or will be 
beneficial to the long term growth of the Group.

2. Participants: Eligible participants means (i) any full-time employees of 
the Group; (ii) any Directors of the Group; (iii) any 
advisers, consultants, suppliers and agents to the Group; 
and (iv) such other persons who have contributed to the 
Group.

3. Total number of shares available for issue 
under the 2012 Scheme and percentage of 
the issued share capital that it represents as 
at the date of this annual report:

The original maximum number of shares which could be 
issued upon exercise of all options granted or to be 
granted under the 2012 Scheme was 27,229,248 shares 
(the “2012 Scheme Mandate Limit”), representing 
approximately 10% of the issued shares as at 6 
December 2012, the date on which an ordinary resolution 
was passed by the Shareholders to approve the 2012 
Scheme.

The 2012 Scheme Mandate Limit was refreshed and 
increased to 47,463,590 shares, representing 
approximately 10% of the issued shares as at 2 June 
2016, the date on which an ordinary resolution was 
passed by the Shareholders to approve the refreshment of 
the 2012 Scheme Mandate Limit.

The total number of shares of the Company issuable upon 
exercise of all options granted and may be granted under 
the 2012 Scheme is 47,463,590 shares (including options 
to subscribe for 17,750,000 shares that have been 
granted but not yet lapsed, cancelled or exercised), 
representing 7.1% of the issued shares of the Company 
as at the date of this annual report.

4. Maximum entitlement of each participant: The total number of shares issued and which may fall to 
be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each 
eligible participant in any 12-month period up to the date 
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at 
the date of grant.
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5. Period within which the shares must be 
taken up under an option:

The period during which an option may be exercised is 
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save 
that no option may be exercised more than 10 years 
after it has been granted.

6. Minimum period for which an option must 
be held before it can be exercised:

As determined by the Board.

7. Amount payable on acceptance of an 
option and the period within which 
payments shall be made:

HK$1 shall be payable to the Company upon acceptance 
of the option not later than 30 days after the date of 
offer.

8. Basis of determination of the exercise price: The exercise price shall not be less than the highest of (i) 
the closing price of the shares as quoted on the Stock 
Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average of the 
closing prices of the shares as quoted on the Stock 
Exchange for the 5 business days immediately preceding 
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

9. Remaining life of the 2012 Scheme: Valid and effective for a term of 10 years from the date 
of adoption until 5 December 2022.
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The following table sets out the movements of the number of share options granted under the 2012 Scheme 
during the year ended 31 December 2021 and the outstanding share options at the beginning and end of the 
year:

Number of share options

Eligible participants
Date of  
grant

Exercise 
price  

per share
Exercise  
Period

At  
1 January  

2021

Granted  
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Cancelled/
Lapsed 

during the 
year

At  
31 December 

2021
(HK$)

          

(a) Directors
Mr. Lu Jianzhong 28/01/2016 3.000 28/01/2017 to 

27/01/2026
3,500,000 — — — 3,500,000

Mr. Yang Xingwen 28/01/2016 3.000 28/01/2017 to 
27/01/2026

2,500,000 — — — 2,500,000

Dr. Ma Chao 12/04/2021 4.494 29/03/2022 to 
11/04/2031

— 3,000,000 — — 3,000,000

Mr. Kam Hou Yin John 12/04/2021 4.494 12/03/2022 to 
11/04/2031

— 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000

Mr. Xu Lin 07/04/2020 5.290 01/04/2021 to 
06/04/2030

3,000,000 — — 3,000,000 —

Dr. Xu Zhihong 16/06/2020 4.870 16/06/2021 to 
15/06/2030

2,600,000 — — 2,600,000 —

Mr. Wong Kwok Tung  
Gordon Allan

28/01/2016 3.000 28/01/2017 to 
27/01/2026

2,500,000 — — — 2,500,000

Mr. Tse Yung Hoi 28/01/2016 3.000 28/01/2017 to 
27/01/2026

250,000 — — — 250,000

Sub-total 14,350,000 5,000,000 — 5,600,000 13,750,000

(b) Employees in aggregate 28/01/2016 3.000 28/01/2017 to 
27/01/2026

1,500,000 — — — 1,500,000

12/04/2021 4.494 03/11/2021 to 
11/04/2031

— 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000

01/09/2021 4.494 31/08/2022 to 
31/08/2031

— 1,500,000 — — 1,500,000

Sub-total 1,500,000 2,500,000 — — 4,000,000

Total 15,850,000 7,500,000 — 5,600,000 17,750,000

Notes:

1. Share options granted under the 2012 Scheme on 28 January 2016 shall vest in the grantees in accordance with the 
timetable below for this purpose, the date or each such date on which the share options are to vest and the 
consideration paid by each grantee for each grant of options was HK$1.00:

Vesting Date Percentage of share options to vest
  

First anniversary of the date of grant 40% of the total number of share options granted
Second anniversary of the date of grant 30% of the total number of share options granted
Third anniversary of the date of grant 30% of the total number of share options granted
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2. Share options granted under the 2012 Scheme on 12 April 2021 to the director and chief executive of the Company 
shall vest in the grantees in accordance with the timetables below for this purpose, the date or each such date on 
which the share options are to vest and the consideration paid by the grantee for the grant of options was HK$1.00:

Vesting Date Percentage of share options to vest
  

After 28 March 2022 25% of the total number of share options granted
After 28 March 2023 25% of the total number of share options granted
After 28 March 2024 25% of the total number of share options granted
After 28 March 2025 25% of the total number of share options granted

Vesting Date Percentage of share options to vest
  

After 11 March 2022 25% of the total number of share options granted
After 11 March 2023 25% of the total number of share options granted
After 11 March 2024 25% of the total number of share options granted
After 11 March 2025 25% of the total number of share options granted

3. Share options granted under the 2012 Scheme on 12 April 2021 to the eligible participant other than the director and 
chief executive of the Company shall vest in the grantee in accordance with the timetable below for this purpose, the 
date or each such date on which the share options are to vest and the consideration paid by the grantee for the 
grant of options was HK$1.00:

Vesting Date Percentage of share options to vest
  

After 2 November 2021 25% of the total number of share options granted
After 2 November 2022 25% of the total number of share options granted
After 2 November 2023 25% of the total number of share options granted
After 2 November 2024 25% of the total number of share options granted

4. Share options granted under the 2012 Scheme on 1 September 2021 to the eligible participant shall vest in the grantee 
in accordance with the timetable below for this purpose, the date or each such date on which the share options are 
to vest and the consideration paid by the grantee for the grant of options was HK$1.00:

Vesting Date Percentage of share options to vest
  

On 31 August 2022 25% of the total number of share options granted
On 31 August 2023 25% of the total number of share options granted
On 31 August 2024 25% of the total number of share options granted
On 31 August 2025 25% of the total number of share options granted
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5. The details of the fair value of share options granted under the 2012 Scheme during the year ended 31 December 
2021 are set out as follows:

Date of grant

Share options 
granted during 
the year ended 

31 December 2021
Estimated fair 

value per share
Estimated fair 

value
HK$ HK$’000

     

Directors
Dr. Ma Chao 12/04/2021 (i) 3,000,000 2.154 6,462
Mr. Kam Hou Yin John 12/04/2021 (i) 2,000,000 2.017 4,034

Sub-total 5,000,000 10,496

Employees in aggregate 12/04/2021 (i) 1,000,000 1.998 1,998
01/09/2021 (ii) 1,500,000 1.756 2,634

Sub-total 2,500,000 4,632

Total 7,500,000 15,128

Notes:

(i) The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before 12 April 2021, being the date on which the 
share options were granted, was HK$4.60.

(ii) The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before 1 September 2021, being the date on which 
the share options were granted, was HK$4.02.

Details of value of share options granted during the financial year are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The following transactions constituted the connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules 
during the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this annual report:

Pursuant to the Put Option Deed, DTXS International Holdings being the Controlling Shareholder of the 
Company, irrevocably granted the Put Option to Ion Tech (the “Subscriber”), but not the obligation, to require 
DTXS International Holdings to purchase or procure the purchase of all or part of the Option Shares during 
the Option Period. On 31 May 2021, DTXS International Holdings as the Grantor, Mr. Lu Jianzhong as the 
Guarantor and the Subscriber as the Grantee have mutually agreed to extend the Put Option Period by twelve 
months such that the Option Period shall be a period of fifteen months commencing from the first day of the 
25th month from the date of Completion (i.e. 29 August 2021) and expiring on the last day of the 39th 
month from the date of Completion (i.e. 28 November 2022) (both days inclusive). For more details of the Put 
Option, refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2021; 2) the circular of the Company 
dated 7 August 2019 in relation to the Subscription of new Shares under Specific Mandate by the Subscriber 
and the grant of the Put Option to the Subscriber by DTXS International Holdings; and (iii) the announcements 
of the Company dated 23 August 2019 and 28 August 2019 in relation to the poll results of the SGM and 
the completion of the Subscription respectively.
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On 12 March 2020, DTXS Silk Road Investment Development Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company, completed a connected transaction in relation to the acquisition of the entire issued share 
capital of HK DTXS Enterprise Holdings (BVI) Limited together with the guarantee arrangements (the 
“Guarantee Arrangements”) with Da Tang Xi Shi International Group Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
DTXS Investment. The acquisition together with the Guarantee arrangements were approved by the 
independent shareholders of the Company in the special general meeting of the Company held on 11 March 
2020. The Guarantee Arrangements have been still in effective during the financial year ended 31 December 
2021 and up to the date of this annual report. For more details of the transaction, refer to 1) the 
announcement of the Company dated 29 November 2019; 2) the circular of the Company dated 21 February 
2020; and 3) announcement of the Company dated 12 March 2020 in respect of, among other things, major 
and connected transaction in relation to the proposed acquisition of the entire issued share capital of HK DTXS 
Enterprise Holdings (BVI) Limited.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
During the financial year, the Company and its subsidiaries had not purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
listed securities of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws and there are no restrictions against such 
rights under the laws of Bermuda where the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to 
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors 
at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of not less than 
25% of the issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR
On 29 November 2019, Ernst & Young had been appointed as the auditor of the Company to fill the casual 
vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. On 17 December 2020, Mazars CPA Limited 
(“Mazars”), Certified Public Accountants, has been appointed as the auditor of the Company to fill the casual 
vacancy following the resignation of Ernst & Young.

Mazars will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 
2022 AGM.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR 2022 AGM
The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on Friday, 27 May 2022 (the “2022 AGM”). For 
determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM, the register of members of the Company 
will be closed from Tuesday, 24 May 2022 to Friday, 27 May 2022 (both dates inclusive), during which period 
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM, all 
properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for 
registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong by not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 23 May 2022.

On behalf of the Board

Lu Jianzhong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (the 
“Company”) is committed to establish and maintain good corporate governance standards. The Board believes 
that maintaining good standard of corporate governance practices are essential in providing a framework for 
the Company to enhance corporate value and accountability to the shareholders of the Company (the 
“Shareholders”).

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code provisions (the “Code”) of the Corporate 
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 
(the “Listing Rules“) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) for the year ended 
31 December 2021.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers in 
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code“) as its own code of conduct regarding securities 
transactions by the directors of the Company (the “Directors“) and senior management of the Company.

The Company has made specific enquiries to all the Directors and they have confirmed their compliance with 
the requirements as set out in the Model Code throughout the financial year of 2021.

Senior management who, because of their offices in the Company, are likely to be in possession of inside 
information in relation to the Company’s securities, have also been requested to comply with the provisions of 
the Model Code when dealing in the securities of the Company.

THE BOARD
Board Composition
The Board has a balanced composition of executive and non-executive Directors. As at the date of this annual 
report, the Board comprises eight Directors, comprising five Executive Directors and three Independent Non- 
executive Directors, as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lu Jianzhong (Chairman)
Mr. Yang Xingwen
Dr. Ma Chao (Executive Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Kam Hou Yin John (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kwok Tung Gordon Allan (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper
Mr. Tse Yung Hoi
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing

The biographical information of all Directors as of the date of this annual report are set out in the section 
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 11 to 15 of this annual report. 
The list of Directors and their role and function is also disclosed in the websites of the Company and the 
Stock Exchange. None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
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Chairman, Executive Vice-Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Deputy Chief Executive 

Officers
The positions of the Chairman, Executive Vice-Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Deputy Chief Executive 
Officers of the Company are separately held by Mr. Lu Jianzhong, Dr. Ma Chao, Mr. Kam Hou Yin John, Mr. 
Wong Kwok Tung Gordon Allan, Mr. Wang Yong and Mr. Wang Qun respectively.

The major roles of the Chairman are to provide leadership to the Board and spearhead overall corporate 
development and strategic planning whilst the Executive Vice-Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, together 
with the deputy chief executive officers, are responsible for execution of the decisions and strategies approved 
by the Board, focusing on business development and managing day-to-day operations of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) with the support of Executive Directors and senior management team.

Independent Non-executive Directors
The Independent Non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board by providing their independent 
judgment and their views on the strategic decisions, directions, and financial and risk management of the 
Company. They also provide independent and objective opinions to the Board, give adequate checks and 
balances to protect the overall interests of the Shareholders and the Group.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from each of the Independent Non-executive 
Directors of the Company pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such 
confirmation, the Company considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election
Code A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election, 
whereas Code A.4.2 states that all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by 
shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment and that every director, including those appointed 
for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors is appointed for a specific term and 
is subject to retirement by rotation once every three years. The Company has issued formal letters of 
appointment to all Directors setting out the key terms of their appointments as required under the Listing 
Rules.

In accordance with bye-law 102(B) of the Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-Laws“), Mr. Kam Hou Yin John and 
Dr. Xu Zhihong will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “2022 AGM”), 
being eligible, and will offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with bye-law 99(A) and 182(vi) of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Yang Xingwen and Mr. Wong Kwok Tung 
Gordon Allan will retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 
2022 AGM.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board and Management
The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Company’s businesses, 
strategic decisions and performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company 
by directing and supervising its affairs. Directors take decisions objectively in the interests of the Group.

All Directors, including Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors, have brought a wide 
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and 
effective functioning.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the relevant information of the Company as well as the services 
and advice from the Company Secretary and other senior management. The Directors may, upon request, seek 
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for performing their 
duties to the Company.

The Directors should disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them and the Board regularly 
reviews the contribution required from each Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company. All 
Directors have confirmed that they have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, 
internal control and risk management, material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of 
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters of the 
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily 
operation and management of the Company are delegated to the management.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development
Every newly appointed Director will receive necessary induction and information to ensure appropriate 
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness of his responsibilities and 
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Pursuant to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development 
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains 
informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and reading materials on 
relevant topics would be issued to Directors where appropriate.

During the financial year, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional trainings and/or 
reading materials relevant to the Company’s business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has proper delegation of its powers and has established four board committees, namely Audit 
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Investment Committee (collectively, “Board 
Committees”), for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Board Committees are established 
with defined written terms of reference which deal clearly with their authorities and duties and are published 
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has been established by the Board and comprises three members who are all 
Independent Non-executive Directors. Mr. Kwok Chi Shing is the chairman and Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper and 
Mr. Tse Yung Hoi are members.

The Board has revised and adopted the terms of reference of the Audit Committee which are in line with the 
Code as set out in the CG Code. The role and function of the Audit Committee are set out in its revised 
terms of reference which are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Audit 
Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system, risk 
management and internal control systems, the scope and nature of the external audit and matters concerning 
the engagement of external auditor.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the financial year. The Audit Committee reviewed the audit 
plan; reviewed and considered the reports from the external auditor; reviewed the Company’s audited 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the unaudited condensed 
consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2021 with recommendations to the Board 
for approval; reviewed internal control system of the Group and discussed with the management and external 
auditor on any changes in accounting policies and practices which may affect the Group and financial 
reporting matters; reviewed the framework and policy of risk management and internal control systems; and 
made recommendations to the Board in respect of the change of external auditor.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board and comprises three members with a majority 
of Independent Non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yung Hoi is the chairman and Dr. Ma Chao and Mr. Kwok 
Chi Shing are the members.

The Board has adopted the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee which are in line with the 
Code as set out in the CG Code. The role and function of the Remuneration Committee are set out in its 
terms of reference which are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary 
functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration packages of individual Executive Director and senior management and the remuneration policy 
and structure for all Directors and senior management; and establishing transparent procedures for developing 
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate 
in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the financial year. The Remuneration Committee 
reviewed the remuneration package of the Directors, subject to approval of Shareholders at the annual general 
meeting, and senior management for the year with recommendations to the Board for approval; reviewed the 
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee of which no revision was required; and made 
recommendation to the Board for the remuneration package of the newly appointed Executive Directors, 
Independent Non-executive Directors, Executive Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Details of the 
remuneration of Directors for the financial year are set out in Note 12 to the consolidated financial 
statements. In addition, written resolutions were passed by all members of the Remuneration Committee and 
recommendations were made to the Board as and when needed.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee has been established by the Board and comprises three members with a majority 
of Independent Non-executive Directors. Mr. Lu Jianzhong is the chairman and Mr. Tse Yung Hoi and Mr. 
Kwok Chi Shing are the members.

The Board has adopted the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee which are in line with the Code 
as set out in the CG Code. The role and function of the Nomination Committee are set out in its terms of 
reference which are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The principal duties of 
the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant 
procedures for the nomination and appointment of directors, making recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment and succession planning of directors and assessing the independence of Independent Non- 
executive Directors.
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The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the financial year to review the structure, size and 
composition of the Board and the board diversity policy; to assess the independence of the Independent Non- 
executive Directors; to consider the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for election at the annual 
general meeting held on 28 May 2021; and to propose and made recommendation to the Board for the 
appointment of Executive Directors, Independent Non-executive Directors, Executive Vice-Chairman, Chief 
Executive, Co-Chief Executive and Company Secretary. In addition, written resolutions were passed by all 
members of the Nomination Committee and recommendations were made to the Board as and when needed.

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy on 25 March 2014. Composition of the Board will be based 
on a range of diversity perspective, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, knowledge and skills, professional experience, length of service, independence and other qualities 
of the members of the Board. The Company maintains that appointments of the Board should be based on 
merit while having due regard to the diversity and overall effective function of the Board as a whole. The 
Nomination Committee shall review the candidate profile and then submit a recommendation to the Board for 
consideration after taking into account all the requirements set out above and all other applicable factors 
relevant to the Company.

The Board also adopted the director nomination policy on 13 December 2018. In identifying and selecting 
suitable candidates for directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character, 
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria necessary to complement the corporate 
strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee has been established by the Board and comprises four members of executive 
Directors. Dr. Ma Chao is the chairman and Mr. Yang Xingwen, Mr. Kam Hou Yin John and Mr. Wong Kwok 
Tung Gordon Allan are the members.

The Board has adopted the terms of reference of the Investment Committee which are in line with the Code 
as set out in the CG Code. The role and function of the Investment Committee are set out in its terms of 
reference which are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary functions 
of the Investment Committee include handling any issues or affairs related to the investment aspects of the 
Company; reviewing the investment performance from time to time and advise the Board on how the 
Company’s funds are to be used to enhance the Group’s investment returns; and preserving the value of the 
Company’s funds and/or achieving capital appreciation.

The Investment Committee held one meeting during the financial year. The Investment Committee reviewed 
investment performance and advised the Board how the Company how to enhance its investment returns. In 
addition, written resolutions were passed by all members of the Investment Committee and recommendations 
were made to the Board as and when needed.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the functions as set out in the Code D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices; training and continuous 
professional development of Directors and senior management; the Company’s policies and practices on 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and the compliance of the Model Code and the CG Code 
and disclosures in this Corporate Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD COMMITTEES MEMBERS
During the financial year, the Board held four meetings. With regards to general meetings, the Company held 
an annual general meeting on 28 May 2021. The attendance record of individual Director at the Board 
meetings, Board Committees meetings and the general meetings of the Company held during the financial 
year is set out in the table below:

Attendance/No. of meetings entitled to attend

Name of Director
Board 

Meeting

Audit 
Committee 

Meeting

Nomination 
Committee 

Meeting

Remuneration 
Committee 

Meeting

Investment 
Committee 

Meeting
General 
Meeting

Executive Directors
Mr. Lu Jianzhong (Chairman) 4/4 N/A 2/2 N/A N/A 1/1
Mr. Yang Xingwen 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/1
Mr. Kam Hou Yin John  

(Chief Executive Officer)   
(appointed on 1 September 2021) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Dr. Ma Chao (appointed on  
1 February 2021) 4/4 N/A N/A 2/2 1/1 1/1

Mr. Xu Lin (Executive Vice-Chairman)  
(resigned on 1 February 2021) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Dr. Xu Zhihong (Co-Chief Executive Officer)  
(resigned on 1 September 2021) 3/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/1

Mr. Wong Kwok Tung Gordon Allan 
(Deputy Chief Executive Officer) 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/1

Non-executive Directors
Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry  

(resigned on 19 March 2021) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tse Yung Hoi 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 N/A 1/1
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 N/A 1/1
Mr. Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper 4/4 2/2 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company Secretary of the Company is responsible for facilitating the Board processes, ensuring the Board 
procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively conducted, as well as ensuring good 
information flow among Board members with senior management and the Shareholders.

Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin (“Ms. Tsang”) was appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 2 November 
2020. Ms. Tsang is a full-time employee of the Group and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s 
affairs. During the financial year, Ms. Tsang has complied with the relevant professional training requirement 
under rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The biographical details of Ms. Tsang are set out in the section headed 
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 11 to 15 of this annual report.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING, RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and is committed to presenting comprehensive and timely 
information to the Shareholders on assessment of the Company’s performance, financial position and 
prospects.

Financial Reporting
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Company, which 
give a true and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, results and cash flows for the year ended 31 
December 2021. The Directors consider that the financial statements have been prepared in conformity with 
the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and reflect amounts 
that are based on the best estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment, and had prepared the 
financial statements on a going concern basis.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements 
is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 57 to 63 of this annual report.

Auditors’ Remuneration
The external auditor of the Company is Mazars CPA Limited (“Mazars”), Certified Public Accountants. The 
Audit Committee has been notified of the nature and the charges of non-audit services performed by Mazars 
during the year under review and considered that such non-audit services have no adverse effect on the 
independence of the external auditor.

During the financial year, the fees payable to Mazars in respect of its audit and non-audit services provided to 
the Group respectively were as follows:

Mazars
HK$’000  

Audit services for annual financial statements 1,550
Non-audit services (Note) 200

Total 1,750

Note:

The non-audit services primarily included interim review and other review services.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to evaluate and determine the nature and the extent of risks 
that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives and has the overall responsibilities for 
monitoring the design, implementation and the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control 
systems. The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems at 
least annually, covering all material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls.

The Group has formulated and adopted a risk management policy in providing directions in identifying, 
evaluating and management significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the senior management identifies 
risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives, and assesses and prioritises the 
identified risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then 
established for those risks considered to be significant.

The Group has engaged an advisory firm in performing annually internal control review on internal control 
system of the Group. Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to the Audit 
Committee at least once a year.

During the financial year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual review of the 
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. After reviewing, the Board 
considered that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems were effectively implemented for 
the Group as a whole during the financial year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Company places a great deal of importance on timely, accurate and transparent communication with the 
Shareholders and the investment community. The Board has adopted a shareholders communication policy 
which is posted on the Company’s website and provides a framework to maintain direct, open and timely 
communication with the Shareholders. The Company shall ensure effective and timely dissemination of relevant 
information at all times.

The Company considers that effective communication with the Shareholders and the investment community in 
a fair and timely basis is essential so as to keep them abreast of Company’s business strategy and 
development. The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders and, in 
particular, through annual general meeting and other general meetings. At the general meetings, Directors (or 
their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

In addition, the Company maintains a website at www.dtxs.com as a communication platform with the 
Shareholders and investors, where the Group’s financial reports (interim and annual reports), notices of general 
meetings, circulars, announcements, press releases and other business information are available for public 
access.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Right to put enquiries to the Board
The Company encourages the Shareholders to attend general meetings which provide an opportunity for 
communications between the Shareholders and the Board. Other than communications at the general 
meetings, Shareholders may put forward any enquiries to the Board by sending written enquiries by post to 
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary. The 
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings
Shareholders can submit a requisition to move a resolution at a general meeting pursuant to section 79 of the 
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Act”). The number of Shareholders necessary for a requisition shall be 
any number of Shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all 
Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting; or not less than 100 
Shareholders.

The written requisition must state the resolution, with a statement not more than 1,000 words with respect to 
the matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at the meeting; be signed 
by the requisitionist(s) (may consist of one or several documents in like form each signed by one or more 
requisitionist(s)); be deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the attention of 
the Company Secretary not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of 
a resolution and not less than one week before the meeting in case of any other requisition; and be 
deposited with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving notice of the resolution 
and circulating the statements of the proposed resolution to all Shareholders in accordance with the 
requirements under the applicable laws and rules.

Right to propose a person for election as a Director
A Shareholder can submit a notice to propose a person (other than a retiring Director) for election as a 
Director at any general meeting pursuant to bye-law 103 of the Bye-Laws. The Shareholder should deposit a 
notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by 
that person of his/her willingness to be elected and the information as required to be disclosed under the 
relevant rules of the Listing Rules and the Bye-Laws as prevailing from time-to-time at the Company’s principal 
place of business in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary at least seven days before the 
date of the general meeting.

Right to convene a special general meeting
Shareholders can submit a requisition to convene a special general meeting (“SGM”) pursuant to section 74 of 
the Act. The number of Shareholders necessary for a requisition shall be representing not less than one-tenth 
of the Company’s paid-up capital as at the date of the deposit of the requisition having the right to vote at 
general meeting of the Company.

The written requisition must state the purpose of the SGM; be signed by the requisitionist(s) (may consist of 
one or several documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionist(s)); and be deposited at the 
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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If the requisition is in order, the Company Secretary will request the Board to convene a SGM by serving 
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered Shareholders. On the 
contrary, if the request has been verified invalid, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of this outcome and 
accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.

If within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the proper and orderly requisition which the Board fails to 
proceed to convene such SGM, the requisitionist(s) may themselves convene a SGM in the same manner, and 
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be 
reimbursed by the Company to the requisitionist(s), but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the 
expiration of three months from the said date.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the financial year, there was no change to the Company’s constitutional documents. An up-to-date 
version of the Company’s memorandum of association and the Bye-Laws is available on the websites of the 
Company and the Stock Exchange.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE
Throughout the year under review, the Company has complied with the Code of the CG Code as set out in 
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, and now adopted new Code on 1 January 2022 onwards. The code 
provision numbers of the Code referred in this annual report are those of the old Code.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT
DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (hereafter the “Company”) together with its 
subsidiaries, (collectively, the “Group”) hereby presents the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG 
Report”, or the “Report”) of the financial year 2021, with disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting 
Guide as described in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules. The Group has complied with all “comply or explain” 
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide during the year ended 31 December 2021.

This Report presents the Group’s management approach and performance in both environmental and social 
aspects. Data and/or information disclosed in this report is derived from internal statistics and analysis.

SCOPE OF THIS REPORT
This Report covers the Group’s overall environmental and social performances of its principal operations in 
property development, e-Commerce, and supporting back-end operations, which specifically include:

(1) the e-Commerce division and supporting back-end operations at the Group’s head office in Hong Kong; 
and

(2) the property development division in Xi’an, People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

However, this Report does not cover the relevant information with regards to the business from the Winery 
division and the Arts and Cultural division, since they do not contribute significantly to the Group’s total 
revenue.

REPORTING PERIOD
The information published in this Report covers the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 
(“FY2021”), which is the same as the financial year covered in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 
31 December 2021.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES
The preparation of the ESG Report has applied the following principles:

Materiality  — materiality assessments have been carried out to identify material environmental and social issues 
that have major impacts on investors and other stakeholders, the significant stakeholders, process, and results 
of the engagement of which are presented in the section headed “Stakeholder Engagement” in this Report.

Quantitative  — key performance indicators (“KPI”s) have been established, and are measurable and applicable 
to make valid comparisons under appropriate conditions; information on the standards, methodologies, 
assumptions, and/or calculation tools used, and sources of conversion factors used, have been disclosed when 
applicable.

Consistency  — consistent statistical methodologies and presentation of KPIs have been used to allow 
meaningful comparisons of related data over time.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
The Group aims at continuously strengthen its environmental protection and social sustainability approach and 
performance by engaging and listening to both its internal and external stakeholders. Stakeholders are open to 
provide their feedback and freely express their expectations and concerns to the Group in the aspects of both 
environmental protection and social sustainability.

The Group connects with its stakeholders through a number of communication channels which include, but not 
limited to, face-to-face meetings, WeChat, focus group discussions, and emails.

Materiality Assessment Survey
During the Reporting Period, the Group has engaged its senior management, shareholders, permanent 
frontline staff, suppliers, and clients through surveys to determine the material ESG aspects for this ESG 
Report. A materiality assessment has been carried out to show the topics that are important to the Group and 
its external stakeholders. Results from the survey are grouped into 18 major topics, which would allow the 
business to better identify any gaps between stakeholders’ expectations and the business’s efforts in 
addressing key issues. The following matrix shows the results from the stakeholder engagement.
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Environmental Employees Operational

A1 Energy
A2 Water
A3 Air Emission
A4 Waste and Effluent
A5  Other Raw Materials 

Consumption
A6  Environmental Protection 

Measures
A7 Climate Change

B1 Employment
B2  Occupational Health and Safety
B3 Development and Training
B4 Labour Standards

C1 Supply Chain Management
C2 Intellectual Property
C3 Data Protection
C4 Customer Service
C5 Product/Service Quality
C6 Anti-corruption
C7 Community Investment

Through ongoing dialogues and materiality assessment during FY2021, the Group identified five material topics 
deemed as most important by internal and external stakeholders:

1. Anti-corruption

2. Data Protection

3. Customer Service

4. Occupational Health and Safety

5. Product/Service Quality

Management approaches of the identified key material issues are discussed in relevant sections below. The 
Group will continue to manage these key material aspects by establishing more policies and guidelines to 
further enhance the Group’s ESG performance.

Stakeholders’ Feedback
The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach and performance. Stakeholders can give 
their suggestions or share their views with us via email to info@dtxs.com.

CONTENT OF THIS REPORT
This Report is released in both English and Chinese versions. Should there be any discrepancies between the 
English and Chinese versions, the English version shall prevail.
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1. Environmental
The Group is committed to fulfil its responsibility to protect the environment from its business activities 
by reducing its carbon footprint and using resources effectively. The Group has complied with all laws 
and regulations regarding environmental protection and encourages environmental protection by 
promoting awareness among its employees.

 1.1 Emissions
The Group did not note any cases of material non-compliance relating to air and greenhouse gas 
emissions, discharge into water and land, and the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous 
waste as required by the applicable laws and regulations.

  1.1.1 Air Emissions
Air emissions are contributed by the consumption of fuel for the Group’s mobile vehicles. 
The consumption of petrol for use in the Group-owned passenger car contributed to the 
emission of 2.09 kg of nitrogen oxides (“NOx”), 0.09 kg of sulphur oxides (“SOx”) and 0.15 
kg of particulate matters (“PM”). The overall intensity was 21.79 g of NOx, 0.97 g of SOX, 
and 1.60 g of PM per employee, or 8.12 mg of NOx, 0.36 mg of SOX, and 0.60 mg of PM 
per m2 of total area.

  1.1.2 Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions
During the Reporting Period, 608.05 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO2e”) GHG 
(mainly carbon dioxide, nitrous oxides and methane) were emitted from Group’s operations. 
The annual emission intensity was 6.33 tCO2e/employee, or 2.36 kgCO2e/m2.

Sources of Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Emission 

(tCO2e)
Sub-total 

(tCO2e)

Total 
Emission 

(%)     

Scope 1 —
Direct Emission Combustion of fuels in 

mobiles sources 16.81 16.81 2.76

Scope 2 —
Energy Indirect Emission Purchased electricity 590.56 590.56 97.12

Scope 3 —
Other Indirect Emission Paper waste disposal 0.67 0.68 0.11

Electricity used by third 
parties for processing 
fresh water and sewage 0.01

Total 608.05 100.00

Note 1:  Emission factors were made reference to Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules 
and their referred documentation as set out by Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing 
Limited, unless stated otherwise.

Note 2:  An emission factor of 0.6101 tCO2/kWh was used for purchased electricity in the PRC.
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Note 3:  Emission factor for combustion of LPG for stationary source were calculated with made 
reference to GHG Emissions from Stationary Combustion (Chinese), provided by the 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol.

Due to the inclusion of the property development division in reporting scope for the 
Reporting Period, overall emissions of the Group increased by 1,319.68% when compared to 
last year (FY2021: 608.05 tCO2e; FY2020: 42.83 tCO2e). If emissions from the property 
development division are not considered, overall emissions of the Group for the Reporting 
Period would be 31.86 tCO2e, a 25.61% decrease when compared to last year.

Nonetheless, the Group will continue to maintain close monitoring on its operations to 
mitigate emissions by taking effective measures to minimize the usage of resources and 
enforce corresponding appropriate mitigation measures.

  1.1.3 Hazardous Waste
During the Reporting Period, daily business operations of the Group had generated a small 
amount of hazardous waste, such as batteries and light bulbs. However, since the amount of 
hazardous waste generated was insignificant, the Group had not kept records of the disposal 
of such items during the Reporting Period.

  1.1.4 Non-hazardous Waste
The Group recognises that its business operations had generated non-hazardous waste, which 
mainly consisted of general office waste such as food waste and paper waste. However, since 
the amount of non-hazardous waste generated was insignificant, the Group had not kept 
records of the disposal of such items during the Reporting Period.

  1.1.5 Emissions Mitigation Initiatives and Targets
The main source of emission was electricity consumption from daily office operations. Please 
refer to Section 1.2.3 for electricity-saving measures that shall mitigate emissions.

In the Reporting Period, the Group has set annual targets for GHG emissions, and the Group 
aims to achieve a 10% reduction in overall emissions intensity in 10 years, or by 2031.

  1.1.6 Waste Reduction Initiatives and Targets
The Group has established waste management practices to reduce waste from daily business 
operations. One of the most effective ways is to reduce and reuse paper. The Group has 
implemented practices in which two-sided paper for printing and photocopying are set to 
default. Paper with prints on one-side are reused by putting back to the paper recycling tray 
for staff to print non-essential documents. The Group also uses reusable envelopes when 
sending mail. This reduces the purchase of new virgin paper overall. Another waste 
management practice is the recycling program, which have also been promoted and 
encouraged. Recycling bins for aluminium cans, toner, batteries, and newspaper are also 
installed in the office.

Since the amount of waste generated by the Group was relatively insignificant, there was no 
target set regarding waste management.
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 1.2 Use of Resources
The Group has not established policies on the efficient use of resources. Nevertheless, the Group is 
committed to protecting the environment by enhancing operational efficiency to reduce energy and 
water consumption.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the relevant local laws and regulations 
related to use of resources which have a significant impact on the Group or its business.

  1.2.1 Energy
A total of 1,025,906 kWh of energy was consumed by the Group for its operations during 
the Reporting Period, which consisted of petrol for operating the Group’s passenger vehicle 
and electricity for powering lighting, air-conditioning and other equipment of the Group 
necessary for its daily operations. The detailed breakdown of the Group’s energy 
consumption is as follows:

Type of Energy Consumption
Consumption  

(in kWh)   

Electricity 964,654.00 kWh 964,654.00
Petrol 6,320.29 litres 61,252.19

The overall intensity was 3.98 kWh per m2 of total area, or 10,686.52 kWh per employee.

  1.2.2 Water
The Group had seen minimal water consumption during the Reporting Period, and there was 
no issue in sourcing water during the Reporting Period.

As reported by property managers on the Group’s rented premises, the Group consumed 
17m3 of water for its business operations during the Reporting Period.

  1.2.3 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives and Targets
As a service orientated group, electricity usage contributes to most of the GHG emissions. 
The Group has put effort in using energy more efficiently. For example, the Group has used 
T5 and LED for all lighting. Starting from FY2019, an intelligent water dispensing machines 
with automatic electricity on-off feature has also been installed. Employees are also 
frequently reminded via email, printed notice and verbal promotion, to switch off 
air-conditioning, light switches and other electronic equipment after use.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has set annual targets to reduce its electricity and 
energy consumption during operation and shall strive to keep on improving consumption 
efficiency. The Group aims to achieve a 10% reduction in overall energy use intensity in 10 
years, or by 2031.
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  1.2.4 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives
While the Group has not set any targets for water consumption reduction due to its minimal 
impacts, the Group nonetheless promotes reasonable water use initiatives and water saving 
measures among its employees.

To reduce water usage, signs are posted near faucets to remind staff to conserve water. A 
dishwasher with water saving feature was installed in the office, reducing time, effort, and 
water resource to wash office kitchenware.

  1.2.5 Packaging Materials
The Group’s operations during the Reporting Period did not involve any regular use of 
packaging materials.

 1.3 The Environment and Natural Resources
The Group is committed to conducting its business responsibly, ensuring that its business does not 
contribute to significant adverse impact on the environment and society while bringing sustainable 
growth and profit.

  1.3.1 Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment
While the Group’s business has no direct or significant impact on the environment and 
natural resources, the Group is committed to reducing its consumption of resources and 
minimising its use of business travel. The Group will continue to commit and make consistent 
effort to find new ways to minimize the environmental impact from its operations whenever 
possible.

 1.4 Climate Change
Climate change poses a huge threat to all businesses, and that of the Group’s is not an exception. 
The Group recognises that extreme weather events may negatively impact daily operations and has 
accordingly prepared contingency plans for these situations.

In particular, the Group identifies that climate change poses a larger risk to its property 
development division, as extreme weather events such as floods would greatly impede construction 
progress of real estate. The Group has strictly followed all environmental-related rules and guidance 
from local and national authorities. However, the Group has yet to identify any opportunities which 
may arise from climate change.
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2. Social

 2.1 Employment and Labour Practices

  2.1.1 Employment
The Group believes that employees are valuable assets, and their continuous contributions 
and efforts are vital to the Group’s success. The Group believes in providing a pleasant, 
motivating and value-adding work environment that will lead to an improved well-being for 
all employees, and long-term retention of its employees.

The Group has complied strictly with the relevant laws and regulations to ensure employees’ 
interests are protected. See below for a list of employment laws and regulations of the 
respective regions the Group operate in.

Mainland China Hong Kong  

• Labour Law
• Labour Contract Law
• Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for 

Employees
• Law on the Protection of Women’s 

Rights and Interests
• Special Rules on the Labour Protection 

of Female Employees

• Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57)
• Inland Revenue Ordinance (Cap. 112)
• Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 

480)
• Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes 

Ordinance (Cap. 485)
• Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance 

(Cap. 486)
• Disability Discrimination Ordinance 

(Cap. 487)
• Family Status Discrimination Ordinance 

(Cap. 527)
• Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 

602)
• Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608)
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   2.1.1.1 Employment Figures
As of 31 December 2021, the Group has a total of 96 employees across its offices in 
Hong Kong and Xi’an. See below for the detail breakdown of the workforce.

Number of 
Employee

Employment 
Percentage  

Employment type
Full-time 96 100.00%
Part-time 0 0.00%

Employee category
Senior Management 9 9.38%
Middle Management 15 15.62%
Frontline and Other Employees 72 75.00%

Age group
18–25 1 1.04%
26–35 17 17.71%
36–45 44 45.83%
46–55 28 29.17%
56 or above 6 6.25%

Gender
Male 45 46.88%
Female 51 53.12%

Region
Mainland China 81 84.38%
Hong Kong 15 15.62%
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   2.1.1.2 Turnover Figures
A total of 14 employees left the Group during the Reporting Period, which gave a 
turnover rate of 14.58%. The Group regularly reviews salary remuneration and benefits 
to retain talents and stay attractive and competitive in the market. See below for the 
detail breakdown of turnover rate by employee group.

Turnover Rate as of 31 December 2021  

By Employment Type
Full-time 14.58%
Part-time N/A

By Age Group
30 or below 0.00%
30–50 18.05%
50 or above 33.33%

By Gender
Male 24.44%
Female 5.88%

By Geographical Location
Mainland China 9.88%
Hong Kong 40.00%

   2.1.1.3 Employee Recruitment, Compensation and Benefits
To retain talent, the Group offers competitive remuneration packages and fringe 
benefits, corresponding to employees’ experience, performance and job duties. The 
Group updated its Employment Handbook during the Reporting Period. Employees can 
refer to the new Employment Handbook, which gives all employees information on 
compensation, benefits, dismissal, working hours, rest days, leaves etc.

The Group is an equal opportunity employer. All employees are entitled to equal 
opportunities and fair treatment for their career development. All job applicants and 
existing employees are judged based on academics, personal achievements, individual 
performances. Factors such as race, gender, age, religious belief, marital status, sexual 
orientation, or other status protected by law, are not used and considered for 
recruitment selection or promotion opportunities.

The Group has implemented a fair and open appraisal system to monitor and evaluate 
an employee’s performance on an annual basis. The appraisal system can assist 
supervisors or department heads in making objective decisions on each employee’s 
performance and promotion opportunities. Furthermore, it provides a good opportunity 
to strengthen communication between employees and supervisors to gather feedbacks, 
provide concrete suggestions for improvement, and discuss on career development and 
career aspirations.
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The Group abides by all applicable employment and labour related laws of Hong Kong 
and Mainland China. The Group’s employees are remunerated in accordance with their 
performance, qualification, work experience and prevailing industry practice.

There were no major changes in policies relating to compensation and dismissal, 
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity 
and anti-discrimination during the Reporting Period.

   2.1.1.4 Employee Communication
Affected by the pandemic of coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”), the Group could 
not hold much internal activities during the Reporting Period. However, the Group is 
committed to resuming regular activities to enhance employees’ sense of belonging 
once COVID-19 subsides.

   2.1.1.5 Equal Opportunity and Anti-Discrimination
The Group attaches particular importance to equal employment opportunities and 
comply strictly with anti-discrimination laws. In support of equal employment 
opportunities, the Group adopts fair and open recruitment mechanism with all positions 
being openly recruited regardless of age, gender, race, nationality, religion, marital 
status or disability.

  2.1.2 Employee Health and Safety
The Group upholds the belief that employee’s safety is the first priority in our workplace. The 
Group is committed to providing a healthy and safe working environment for all our 
employees. To ensure employees are in healthy condition, air purifiers and plants are installed 
wherever appropriate in the office. Furthermore, the Group has purchased employee medical 
compensation for all its employees, which includes a free annual medical check-up and 
dental insurance.

In addition, the Group participates in fire/emergency evacuation drills organized by the tenant 
on a regular basis, which raises employee awareness and responsiveness in case of a fire 
emergency. The Group has also purchased several types of insurances to cover for employees 
in case of unforeseeable accidents. This includes Fire and Office insurance and traveling 
insurance for employees who required business travelling.

The Group has complied with all COVID-19 responses and measures as per local jurisdiction.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with occupational health related laws 
and regulations to avoid any health risks from being imposed onto its employees. See below 
for a list of occupational health related laws and regulations of the respective regions the 
Group operate in.

Mainland China Hong Kong  

• Labour Law
• Labour Contract Law
• PRC Law on The Prevention and 

Control of Occupational Diseases

• Employees’ Compensation Ordinance 
(Cap. 282)

• Occupational Safety and Health 
Ordinance (Cap. 509)
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There were no major changes in management practice in relation to occupational health and 
safety during the Reporting Period.

   2.1.2.1 Work-related fatalities and injury 

Occupational Health and Safety Data in 2021

Work related fatality 0
Fatality rate 0.00%
Work injury cases ＞3 days 0
Work injury cases ≤3 days 0
Lost days due to work injury 0

Occupational Health and Safety Data in 2020

Work related fatality 0
Fatality rate 0.00%

Occupational Health and Safety Data in 2019

Work related fatality 0
Fatality rate 0.00%

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not receive any complaints or lawsuits 
regarding violations of health and safety-related laws.

  2.1.3 Development and Training
The Group considers the skills and knowledge of its employees a vital importance to the 
Group’s growth. The Group believes in creating a workplace that can foster growth by 
providing training opportunities for its employees to enhance their working capabilities and 
management competence. By doing so, employees are sponsored to take continuous 
professional development (CPD) trainings provided by professional bodies.

The Group puts emphasis on employees’ knowledge and ability and provides on-the-job 
in-house training to enable them to perform their job and enhance competitiveness to meet 
the Group’s needs. Training that the Group provides can be categorised as follows:

• Induction training: orientation training provided to new staff that covers policies and 
procedures of the Group, OHS and firefighting, position-related knowledge and skills, 
etc.;

• Professional and technical training: training on professional skills and knowledge (such 
as new laws and regulations, etc.); and

• Occupational health and safety: provided as part of the induction training and regular 
refresh sessions, topics are tailored to meet employees’ needs.
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During the Reporting Period, 66 employees, or 68.75% of all employees, received training as 
arranged by the Group, and the average training hours that each employee (inclusive of 
employees who did not receive training or have left the Group) received was 1.15 hours. The 
percentage and average training hours per gender and employee category (inclusive of 
employees who did not receive training or have left the Group) during the Reporting Period 
are as follows:

Percentage
Average 

Training Hours  

By Gender
Female 15.69% 0.24 hrs
Male 128.89% 2.18 hrs

By Employee Category
Senior Management 66.67% 0.44 hrs
Middle Management 20.00% 0.40 hrs
Frontline and Other Employees 79.17% 1.39 hrs

  2.1.4 Labour Standards
The Group fully complies with the relevant labour laws legislation in Hong Kong that 
prohibits child labour and forced labour. See below for a list of labour standard related laws 
and regulations of the respective regions the Group operate in.

Mainland China Hong Kong  

• PRC Law on Protection of Minors • The Employment of Children 
Regulations under the Employment 
Ordinance (Cap. 57)

The Group ensures new recruits are valid for working by cross checking on the personal 
information written on the CV, to the personal information in valid identification and/or 
working visas during the recruitment process. Any form of child labour, illegal workers and/
or forced labour are strictly prohibited in the Group’s business operations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not been notified of any violation of laws and 
regulations on employee discrimination, anti-child-labour, and forced-labour.
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 2.2 Operating Practices

  2.2.1 Supplier Chain Management
The Group’s primary operation revolves around back-office works, property development, and 
general information technology operations. Thus, the required supplies fall into several 
categories, including office supplies, information technology, communications and utilities.

For the Group supply chain practice, mechanisms have been implemented to ensure 
principled and practical purchasing of supplies. For instance, proper segregation of duties are 
in place when ordering supplies. The person initiating the purchase must be reviewed by 
another person, usually his/her supervisor. For any single purchase over HK$10,000, an 
approval by the chief executive officer of the Group is necessary. In addition, when an 
employee wishes to order supplies, an evaluation will be made by the Human Resources 
Department to determine if it is necessary or not with the purchase order. In addition, 
employees dealing with suppliers and contractors are required to declare any conflict of 
interest, and communication channels are in place so that any concerns about suspected 
misconduct, malpractice or impropriety could be raised confidentially.

To align with the Group’s stance on protecting the environment, supplies are purchased 
locally to minimize excess emissions from shipping logistics, and will purchase certified with 
environmental labels (e.g. PEFC certified paper) whenever possible. In addition, the Group 
heavily promotes the re-use of supplies to minimize unnecessary purchasing and waste.

Procurement and resources management processes are continuously being monitored and 
properly documented. The Group has established a supply chain management system to 
ensure only suppliers that are able to provide qualified services and products and adhere to 
the relevant environmental and safety protections standards are selected.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has engaged with 3 major suppliers, all of which are 
from Hong Kong.

  2.2.2 Product Responsibility
In terms of regulating product promotion and responsible sales, the Group strictly abides by 
the relevant laws and regulations. See below for a list of relevant laws and regulations of the 
respective regions the Group operate in.

Mainland China Hong Kong  

• Criminal Law
• Advertising Law
• Cyber Security Law
• Provisions on Protecting the Personal 

Information of Telecommunications 
and Internet Users

• Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance 
(Cap. 486)

• Office of the Privacy Commission for 
Personal Data, Hong Kong

• Trade Marks Ordinance (Cap. 559)
• Patents Ordinance (Cap. 514)
• Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528)

In terms of the health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters and remedies of 
the products and services provided, there was no material non-compliance with relevant laws 
and regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group during the Reporting 
Period. In addition, there had been no products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety 
and health reasons during the Reporting Period.
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   2.2.2.1 Intellectual Property Rights
Any assets of the Group, including materials and information for official purposes, shall 
not be taken or copied for personal purposes without authorisation. Such violation is an 
offence under the laws of Hong Kong, and offenders will be subject to disciplinary 
action or prosecution. The Group does not allow any infringement of its assets and 
intellectual property rights, and will take appropriate disciplinary actions against 
offenders.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any dispute or infringement 
by (i) the Group of any intellectual property rights owned by third parties; or (ii) any 
third parties of any intellectual property rights owned or being applied by the Group.

   2.2.2.2 Quality Assurance
The Group is committed to consistently provide high quality products and services that 
are in accordance with the requirement of its customers.

During the Reporting Period, there were no material complaints made against the 
Group. The Group has complied with relevant laws and regulations in relation to 
product and service liabilities.

   2.2.2.3 Confidential Information, Data Protection, and Privacy
The Group’s e-Commerce division, namely eSilkTrade, is a business-to-business platform 
on information for cross-border trading of wine, cosmetics, electronics, while also 
integrating with suppliers, buyers, and logistic service providers. The business and 
operation are based focused in Hong Kong. Due to the nature of e-Commerce, the 
Group is committed to protecting the privacy of its customers, employees, business 
partners and suppliers by maintaining a safe and secure data environment.

The Group adopts the following principles regarding data and security:

• The platform only collects relevant company information that is required for 
communication. Clients shall not be requested for any personal information.

• The Group does not share personal data to any organization and/or business that 
is not a member of its platform.

• The website and all data are encrypted to protect against unauthorized access to 
company information.

• The Group’s computer system is regularly updated to avoid any possible hackers’ 
activities.

During the Reporting Period, the Company received no complaints or litigations relating 
to data protection and privacy protection, there were no incidents and complaints 
concerning breaches of customer privacy or losses of customer data for the Group.
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  2.2.3 Anti-Corruption
The Group strictly prohibits any corruption and bribery activities that compromise the interest 
of its shareholders, investors, customers, and other stakeholders. The Group complies with 
the law and regulation regarding bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering as stipulated 
in the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. Employees at all levels are expected to behave with 
integrity, impartiality and ethically. We have zero tolerance on any forms of bribery, 
corruption and fraud.

The Group has established and implemented anti-corrupting measures. Anti-bribery policies 
are clearly stated in the staff handbook. We have also established a prevention system, which 
sets up relevant whistle-blowing procedures by setting up a private communication channel 
on reporting suspicious fraudulent actions to the Group’s management directly.

The conduct of employee is closely monitored by management in preventing corruption. We 
conduct reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control systems, as well as providing 
training to employees on anti-corruption on a timely basis.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any non-compliance with relevant 
laws and regulations on anti-corruption.

   Anti-corruption Training
Anti-corruption training is pivotal to raising employees’ awareness and maintaining a culture 
of integrity throughout the Group. During the Reporting Period, the Group organised 
anti-corruption training for its employees located in Hong Kong. Anti-corruption training 
topics include anti-corruption laws and regulations, case studies, identifying bribery and 
corruption, whistleblowing, and business ethics.

Employee breakdown of anti-corruption training shall be disclosed in the Report for the 
following Reporting Period.

 2.3 Community

  2.3.1 Community Investment
As a responsible company, the Group understands the importance for making positive 
contribution towards the community where it operates.

The Group continues to support the disadvantaged community in ways that is suitable for its 
business operations, such as purchasing environmentally friendly stationaries from a stationary 
store operated by a disabled owner as one of its methods for social responsibility. The Group 
also strongly encourages its employees to locate and source supplies from social enterprises 
whenever possible as well.

Due to the ongoing pandemic, the Group was unable to organise community work during 
the Reporting Period. The Group will re-evaluate and resume its community-based activities 
once it is safe to do so and will base the decision off the latest government’s policy.



Annual Report 2021 57

Independent Auditor’s Report

Mazars CPA Limited
中審眾環（香港）會計師事務所有限公司
42nd Floor, Central Plaza,
18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
香港灣仔港灣道 18 號中環廣場 42 樓
Tel 電話: (852) 2909 5555
Fax 傳真: (852) 2810 0032
Email 電郵: info@mazars.hk
Website 網址: www.mazars.hk

To the members of
DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company 
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 
157, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group 
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill
Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial 
statements

Our key procedures, among others, included:

At 31 December 2021, the Group had goodwill, net 
o f  i m p a i r m e n t  l o s s ,  o f  a p p r o x i m a t e l y 
HK$141,207,000, relating to the cash-generating 
unit (“CGU”) of the Group’s auction business.

The Group’s impairment assessment of goodwill is 
performed by using the value-in-use calculation 
based on the discounted cash flow method. In order 
to support the management’s estimation, the Group 
engaged an independent valuer to perform valuation 
on the CGU at the end of the reporting period.

We have identified the above matter as a key audit 
matter because of the significance of the carrying 
value of the goodwill and the significant 
judgements and estimations involved in the 
estimation of the value-in-use of the CGU of the 
auction business, including expected future cash 
flows and the discount rate.

• enquiring of management the key assumptions 
applied in the cash flow projection, such as the 
revenue growth rates and gross margins, and 
comparing them to historical information and 
our understanding of the latest operating 
information and conditions and evaluating the 
assumptions;

• reviewing the valuation report from the valuer 
and holding discussions with the management 
and the valuer to understand and assess the 
appropriateness of the valuation basis and 
methodology used, and underlying assumptions 
applied;

• evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and 
competence of the valuer; and

• assessing the adequacy of the disclosures of the 
Group’s impairment assessment of goodwill in 
the consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)  

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of properties under development and completed properties held for sale
Refer to Notes 24 and 26(b)(ii) to the consolidated 
financial statements

Our key procedures, among others, included:

At 31 December 2021, the Group had various 
properties under development and completed 
properties held for sale (the “Properties”) located in 
the People’s Republic of China with carrying 
amounts of approximately HK$1,798,142,000 and 
HK$168,607,000, respectively.

In addition, the Group also made prepayments of 
construction costs for development of the Properties 
of approximately HK$546,568,000 at 31 December 
2021.

The Properties are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value on an individual property basis. 
Net realisable value is estimated at the actual or 
estimated selling price less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to 
make the sale. The net realisable value was 
determined by the management with reference to 
the valuation performed by an independent valuer.

We have identified the above matter as a key audit 
matter because of the significance of carrying value 
of the Properties and the estimation of net 
realisable value of the Properties involved significant 
judgements and estimations.

• reviewing the valuation report from the valuer 
and holding discussions with management and 
valuer to understand and evaluate the valuation 
basis and methodology used, and the underlying 
assumptions applied;

• evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and 
competence of the valuer;

• a s se s s ing ,  on  a  samp l ing  bas i s ,  the 
reasonableness of the construction and other 
costs budgets of the Properties by comparing 
them to actual construction and other costs 
incurred for similar properties developed by the 
Group;

• assessing, on a sample basis, the appropriateness 
of the underlying data including comparable 
market transactions being used; and

• assessing, on a sample basis, the evidences to 
ensure the construction progress.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)  

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of advances to consignors and related interest receivables
Refer to Note 26 to the consolidated financial 
statements

Our key procedures, among others, included:

At 31 December 2021, the Group had advances to 
consignors of works of art (the “Advances to 
Consignors”) of approximately HK$445,867,000 and 
related interest receivables of approximately 
HK$87,150,000.

The Group provides certain consignors of works of 
art with advances secured by the works of art which 
are held by the Group as collateral. The advances 
granted to consignors generally do not exceed 40% 
of the collateral’s market value estimated by the 
Group’s internal art experts. If the work of art is 
sold in auction, the proceeds received from the 
buyer, after deducting commission, advances, 
interest and relevant taxes, will be paid to the 
consignor. If the work of art remains unsold, the 
consignor will be required to repay the advance 
together with interest before the work of art is 
returned to the consignor.

We have identified the impairment assessment of 
the Advances to Consignors and related interest 
receivables as a key audit matter because the 
significant amounts involved and significant 
judgements and estimations were made by 
management in determining the loss allowances for 
such advances and related interest receivables, which 
involve the estimation of the market value of works 
of art. The Group also engaged external art experts 
to perform the valuations of works of art which 
were held by the Group as collateral at the end of 
the reporting period.

• understanding and assessing the design, 
implementation of key internal controls over the 
approval, monitoring and collection of the 
Advances to Consignors and related interest 
receivables;

• reviewing the expected credit loss assessment 
prepared by management;

• evaluating, on a sampling basis, management’s 
assessment of the value of collateral held by the 
Group by comparing management’s estimation 
with the valuation reports from the art experts, 
comparing the carrying value of the Advances to 
Consignors with the value of collateral, and 
reviewing historical auction prices of collateral 
sold;

• assessing the internal and external art experts’ 
competence, objectivity and capabilities; and

• in respect of the Advances to Consignors and 
related interest receivables, assessing, on a 
sampling basis, the external evidence obtained 
(e.g. public information available to us), and 
testing the historical settlement pattern, 
subsequent settlement and forward-looking 
factors specific to the consignors.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the 2021 annual report of the Company, but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the 
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 31 March 2022

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is:
She Shing Pang
Practising Certificate number: P05510
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE

Revenue from contracts with customers 7 65,822 147,032
Interest income from advances to consignors 7 39,158 43,613
Gross rental income 7 2,424 2,536

107,404 193,181
Other income 8 10,788 19,173
Costs of inventories sold (28,147) (111,272)
Auction and related services costs (3,978) —
Staff costs 9(a) (43,837) (40,602)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 9(b) (16,984) (22,226)
Other operating expenses (22,935) (18,867)
Impairment of trade and other receivables 26(a), 26(b) (31,992) (3,836)
Other gains and losses 10 2,944 469
Finance costs 11 (1,783) (2,657)

(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS 9 (28,520) 13,363

Income tax (expenses) credits 14 (5,845) 1,556

(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (34,365) 14,919

DISCONTINUED OPERATION
Profit for the period from discontinued operation 38 — 15,319

(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (34,365) 30,238

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or 

loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign 

operations 17,374 41,687

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, 
NET OF TAX 17,374 41,687

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSES) INCOME FOR 
THE YEAR (16,991) 71,925
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2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000    

(Loss) Profit for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company (33,656) 32,556
Non-controlling interests (709) (2,318)

(34,365) 30,238

Total comprehensive (expenses) income for the year 
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company (18,367) 68,437
Non-controlling interests 1,376 3,488

(16,991) 71,925

(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 16

Basic
— For (loss) profit for the year HK(5.04) cents HK4.88 cents

— For (loss) profit from continuing operations HK(5.04) cents HK2.58 cents

Diluted
— For (loss) profit for the year HK(5.04) cents HK4.85 cents

— For (loss) profit from continuing operations HK(5.04) cents HK2.57 cents
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 18 109,750 113,397
Investment properties 19 47,736 50,392
Intangible assets 21 73,439 77,719
Goodwill 22 141,207 137,111
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 23 7,711 —
Deferred tax assets 33 18,349 15,849
Properties under development 24 22,802 19,527

420,994 413,995

CURRENT ASSETS
Properties under development 24 1,775,340 1,002,458
Completed properties held for sale 24 168,607 176,835
Inventories 25 43,554 47,847
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 23 960 —
Trade and other receivables 26 1,189,828 620,038
Loans receivables 27 13,000 7,488
Restricted bank deposits 28 2,668 2,586
Cash and cash equivalents 29 28,124 193,396

3,222,081 2,050,648

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 30 645,911 410,636
Interest-bearing borrowings 31 268,121 711,793
Bond payables 32 500 —
Tax liabilities 92,102 80,170

1,006,634 1,202,599

NET CURRENT ASSETS 2,215,447 848,049

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,636,441 1,262,044

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing borrowings 31 1,390,941 —
Other payables 20(b), 30 2,913 920
Deferred tax liabilities 33 18,360 19,408

1,412,214 20,328

NET ASSETS 1,224,227 1,241,716
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 34 333,763 333,763
Reserves 36 813,801 824,603

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 1,147,564 1,158,366
Non-controlling interests 17 76,663 83,350

TOTAL EQUITY 1,224,227 1,241,716

These consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 157 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
Board of Directors on 31 March 2022 and signed on its behalf by

Kam Hou Yin John Wong Kwok Tung Gordon Allan
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2021

Attributable to equity holders of the Company 

Share  
capital

Share 
premium

Share 
option reserve

Capital 
Redemption 

reserve

Exchange 
fluctuation 

reserve
Revaluation 

reserve
Merger 
reserve Other reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

Non- 
Controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
(Note 34) (Note 36(a)) (Note 35) (Note 36(a)) (Note 36(b)) (Note 36(c)) (Note 36(d)) (Note 36(e))

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
             

At 1 January 2020 333,730 1,569,589* 24,959* 1,264* (11,496)* 8,668* —* —* (661,707)* 1,265,007 7,810 1,272,817

Profit for the year — — — — — — — — 32,556 32,556 (2,318) 30,238
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods:
Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations — — — — 35,881 — — — — 35,881 5,806 41,687

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — 35,881 — — — 32,556 68,437 3,488 71,925

Transactions with owners:
Contributions and distributions
Disposal of subsidiaries — — — — — (5,850) — — 5,850 — — —

Exercise of share options (Notes 34 and 35) 33 302 (108) — — — — — — 227 — 227
Acquisition of subsidiaries under common control (Note 37) — — — — — — (179,433) — — (179,433) 72,052 (107,381)
Transfer of share option reserve upon the forfeiture of share options 

after vesting date (Note 35) — — (9,578) — — — — — 9,578 — — —

Equity-settled share option arrangements (Note 35) — — 4,128 — — — — — — 4,128 — 4,128

33 302 (5,558) — — (5,850) (179,433) — 15,428 (175,078) 72,052 (103,026)

At 31 December 2020 333,763 1,569,891* 19,401* 1,264* 24,385* 2,818* (179,433)* —* (613,723)* 1,158,366 83,350 1,241,716

At 1 January 2021 333,763 1,569,891* 19,401* 1,264* 24,385* 2,818* (179,433)* —* (613,723)* 1,158,366 83,350 1,241,716

Loss for the year — — — — — — — — (33,656) (33,656) (709) (34,365)
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods:
Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations — — — — 15,289 — — — — 15,289 2,085 17,374

Total comprehensive expenses for the year — — — — 15,289 — — — (33,656) (18,367) 1,376 (16,991)

Transactions with owners:
Contributions and distributions
Transfer of share option reserve upon the forfeiture of share options 

after vesting date (Note 35) — — (1,270) — — — — — 1,270 — — —

Equity-settled share option arrangements (Note 35) — — 2,615 — — — — — — 2,615 — 2,615
Acquisition of non-controlling interests — — — — — — — 4,950 — 4,950 (8,063) (3,113)

— — 1,345 — — — — 4,950 1,270 7,565 (8,063) (498)

At 31 December 2021 333,763 1,569,891* 20,746* 1,264* 39,674* 2,818* (179,433)* 4,950* (646,109)* 1,147,564 76,663 1,224,227

* At 31 December 2021, these reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately HK$813,801,000 
(2020: HK$824,603,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) Profit before tax
From continuing operations (28,520) 13,363
From discontinued operation — 15,319

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 16,984 22,226
Impairment of trade and other receivables 31,992 3,836
Write off of advances to consignors and related interest 

receivables — 8,817
Write off of other receivables — 79
Fair value loss on investment properties 19 4,097 5,173
Unrealised fair value gain on listed equity securities 23(b) (161) —
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 38 — (15,319)
Gain on termination of lease — (34)
Finance costs 11 1,783 2,657
Bank interest income 8 (71) (1,268)
Interest income from loans receivables (4,206) (8,214)
Share-based payment expenses 9(a) 2,615 4,128
Exchange differences (4,045) (6,369)

CASH FLOWS GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE 
MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL 20,468 44,394

Change in working capital:
Properties under development (665,199) (94,575)
Completed properties held for sale 13,301 9,506
Inventories 3,170 227
Trade and other receivables (580,119) (58,896)
Trade and other payables 267,274 5,229

CASH USED IN OPERATIONS (941,105) (94,115)
Bank interest received 71 1,268
Interest paid (185) (517)
Income tax refund (paid), net 99 (940)

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (941,120) (94,304)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (12) (759)
Subscription of listed equity securities (799) —
Acquisition of subsidiaries under common control 37 — (144,823)
Net proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries — 15,810
Repayment of loans receivable, net — 73,370
Loans to an independent third party (13,000) (7,525)
Increase of restricted bank deposits — (156)

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (13,811) (64,083)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Inception of interest-bearing borrowings 1,636,461 —
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings (724,741) —
Issuance of bond payables 500 —
Principal portion of lease payments 41(c) (6,414) (8,844)
Interest paid (115,014) —
Proceeds from exercise of share options — 227

NET CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES 790,792 (8,617)

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (164,139) (167,004)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AT BEGINNING OF 
YEAR

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at beginning of year 193,396 350,066

Cash and cash equivalents attributable to discontinued 
operation at beginning of year — 946

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF 
YEAR 193,396 351,012

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (1,133) 9,388

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 28,124 193,396
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda as 
an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is located at Crawford 
House, 4th Floor, 50 Cedar Avenue, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of business is 
located at Room 811–817, 8/F, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were involved in the following 
principal activities:

• provision of auction and related services

• production and sale of wines

• trading of merchandises

• properties investment and development

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the immediate holding company of the Company is Da Tang 
Xi Shi International Holdings Limited, which is established in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the 
ultimate holding company of the Company is 大唐西市文化產業投資集團有限公司 (Da Tang Xi Shi 
Investments Group Limited* (“DTXS Investments”)), which is established in the People’s Republic of China 
(the “PRC”), and the ultimate controlling parties of the Company is Mr. Lu Jianzhong and Ms. Zhu 
Ronghua (the “Ultimate Controlling Parties”).

* For identification purpose only

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong 
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also comply 
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock 
Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the principles applicable to 
a going concern basis. The applicability of these principles is dependent upon continued availability of 
adequate finance or attaining profitable operations in the future in fulfilling the payment obligations. In 
particular, the Group has taken into consideration of the following matters:

• sale of commercial properties with aggregate consideration of approximately Renminbi (“RMB”) 
471,000,000, as detailed in the Company’s announcement dated 13 September 2021, to be 
completed during the year ending 31 December 2022; and

• the Group expected that the banks and other lenders in regards of the interest-bearing borrowings 
would not request for repayment earlier than the repayment schedule of the respective 
agreements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except 
for investment properties, unlisted equity investment and listed equity securities, which have been 
measured at fair value. These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars 
(“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting 
policies adopted in the 2020 consolidated financial statements except for the adoption of new/revised 
HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and effective from the current period or the Group elected to 
early adopt in the current period as set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and all of its 
subsidiaries. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the 
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
investee (i.e. existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an 
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over 
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, 
using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which 
the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests (“NCI”), even if this results in the NCI having a deficit 
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the 
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and 
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any NCI, and (iii) the cumulative translation 
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair 
value of any investment retained, and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s 
share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss 
or accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
 Structured arrangements

Following the completion of the acquisition of China King Sing Lun Fung Company Limited (“KSLF (HK)”) 
and the execution of certain structured arrangements in 2016, the Group commenced the auction 
business in the PRC through 北京景星麟鳳國際拍賣有限公司 (Beijing Phoenixstar International Auction 
Co., Ltd.* (“Beijing Phoenixstar”)), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of KSLF (HK).

The legal ownership of Beijing Phoenixstar is registered under the names of two individuals (the 
“Registered Shareholders”) and the Group entered into a series of agreements with the Registered 
Shareholders to effect that the Group has control over Beijing Phoenixstar so as to obtain benefits from 
its activities (the “Structured Arrangements”). The Structured Arrangements with the Registered 
Shareholders comprise the following agreements:

(i) Exclusive Operation and Technology Support Services Agreement;

(ii) Exclusive Right to Purchase Agreement;

(iii) The Voting Rights Proxy Agreement; and

(iv) Equity Pledge Agreement.

Details of the Structured Arrangements are set out in the section headed “the Structured Contractual 
Arrangements” in the Company’s announcement dated 20 June 2016.

The Structured Arrangements are irrevocable and enable the Group to:

• Exercise effective financial and operational control over Beijing Phoenixstar;

• Exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Beijing Phoenixstar;

• Receive substantially all of the economic returns generated by Beijing Phoenixstar in consideration 
for the exclusive technical and management consultancy services;

• Obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all or part of equity interests in Beijing 
Phoenixstar from the respective Registered Shareholders; and

• Obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of Beijing Phoenixstar as collateral security under the 
Structured Arrangements.

The above Structured Arrangements effectively transfer the controls over the economic benefits and pass 
the risks associated with the business of Beijing Phoenixstar to the Group. Accordingly, Beijing 
Phoenixstar is accounted for as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group since the completion of the 
acquisition of KSLF (HK) for accounting purposes.

* For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the 
Group:

Amendments to HKAS 39, 
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 
and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions Beyond 30 June 2021

  Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16: Interest Rate Benchmark 

Reform — Phase 2
The amendments address issues that might affect financial reporting when a company replaces the old 
interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate as a result of the interest rate benchmark 
reform (the reform). The amendments complement those issued in November 2019 and relate to:

• changes to contractual cash flows — a company will not have to derecognise or adjust the carrying 
amount of financial instruments for changes required by the reform, but will instead update the 
effective interest rate to reflect the change to the alternative benchmark rate;

• hedge accounting — a company will not have to discontinue its hedge accounting solely because 
it makes changes required by the reform, if the hedge meets other hedge accounting criteria; and

• disclosures — a company will be required to disclose information about new risks arising from the 
reform and how it manages the transition to alternative benchmark rates.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

 Amendments to HKFRS 16: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions Beyond 30 June 2021
The amendments exempt lessees from having to consider individual lease contracts to determine whether 
rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic are lease modifications and 
allow lessees to account for such rent concessions as if they were not lease modifications. It applies to 
Covid-19-related rent concessions that reduce lease payments due on or before 30 June 2022. The 
amendments do not affect lessors.

These amendments shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with earlier 
application permitted. The Group has elected to early adopt the amendments in the current year.

The early adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the 
following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current period, which the Group has not 
early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use1

Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract1

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework1

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020 Cycle1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates2

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 
Single Transaction2

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts2

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative 
Information2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and 
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
3 The effective date to be determined

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will have 
any material impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.

4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an 
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the elements of 
control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is presented within these notes, an investment in 
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss. The carrying amount of the investment is reduced to its 
recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of 
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021

4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations, other than business combination under common control, are accounted for using 
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value which 
is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the 
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange 
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the 
NCI in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of NCI are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded 
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is 
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, 
the amount recognised for NCI and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in the 
acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration 
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after 
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill 
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill at 31 
December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from 
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash 
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of 
whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of 
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash 
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. Where 
goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of 
the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is 
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. 
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation 
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Business combination under common control is accounted for using the pooling-of-interest method and 
the results of the acquiree are consolidated by the Group from the date of acquisition, being the date 
on which the Group contains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control 
ceases.

Under the pooling-of-interests methods, the assets and liabilities of the acquiree are stated at their 
historical carrying values at the date of acquisition and the difference between the consideration 
transferred for a business combination under common control and the acquisition date historical net 
asset values of the acquiree attributable to the Group as combined by the Group is accounted for as a 
contribution from or a distribution to, as appropriate, the Ultimate Controlling Parties of the Group in 
“merger reserve” within the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Accordingly, there is no 
goodwill or gain on bargain purchase as a result of a business combination under common control.

 Fair value measurement
The Group measures its investment properties, unlisted equity investment and listed equity securities at 
fair value at the end of the reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell 
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in 
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The 
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset 
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the 
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, 
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

 Impairment of non-financial assets, other than goodwill
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required 
(including its property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and the Company’s interest in 
subsidiaries), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of 
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises, 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in 
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that 
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other 
than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would 
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset in prior periods. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period 
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued 
asset.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of the holding company of 
the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each holding 
company, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture 
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group 
or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring 
employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, 
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture 
includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly 
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as 
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In 
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised 
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and 
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets 
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, 
the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and 
equipment” up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying 
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation surplus in revaluation reserve 
or deficit in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant 
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates/estimated 
useful lives used for this purpose are as follows:

 Owned assets
Freehold land Not depreciated
Buildings 3.3% to 6.3%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 33.3%
Plant, machinery and workshop equipment 5% to 20%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20% to 33.3%
Motor vehicles 20% to 33.3%
Bearer plants 5%

 Right-of-use assets
Leasehold land Over the shorter of the lease terms and estimated 

useful lives
Buildings 1.75 to 2 years
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that 
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual 
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at the 
end of each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the period the asset is 
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant 
asset.

 Investment properties
Investment properties are interests in land and building that are held to earn rental income and/or for 
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for 
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured 
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are 
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in profit or 
loss in the period in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss 
in the period of the retirement or disposal.

 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of 
intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are 
subsequently amortised over the useful economic lives and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation 
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of the reporting 
period.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Intangible assets (Continued)

 Brands, customer relationship and computer software
Brands, customer relationship and computer software are stated at cost less any impairment losses and 
are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Brands 20 years
Customer relationship 5 years
Computer software 3 years

 Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred. Expenditure incurred on projects to develop 
new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility 
of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete 
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the 
availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure 
during the development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is 
expensed when incurred.

 Properties under development
Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value and comprise land 
costs, construction costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs directly attributed to such 
properties during the development period.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless the construction period of the 
relevant property development project is expected to complete beyond normal operating cycle. On 
completion, the properties are transferred to completed properties held for sale.

 Completed properties held for sale
Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is 
determined by an apportionment of total land and construction costs attributable to unsold properties. 
Net realisable value determined by reference to the sales proceeds of properties sold in ordinary course 
of business, less applicable selling expenses, or by management estimates based on prevailing market 
conditions.

 Government grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an 
expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic 
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration.

 Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term 
leases. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing 
the right to use the underlying assets.

 (a) Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial 
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any 
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as detailed in the policy 
under “Property, plant and equipment” above.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost 
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life 
of the asset.

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment properties, it is included in 
investment properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, and 
subsequently measured at fair value, in accordance with the Group’s policy for “Investment 
properties” above.

 (b) Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of 
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments 
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments 
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value 
guarantees.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate 
at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying 
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a 
change in lease payments (e.g. a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an 
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in trade and other payables.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Leases (Continued)

 Group as a lessee (Continued)

 (c) Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of office 
properties and staff quarters (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from 
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term 
leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group has applied the practical expedient provided in Amendments to HKFRS 16: Covid-19-Related 
Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 and does not assess whether eligible rent concessions occurring 
as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic are lease modification. The Group accounts for any 
change in lease payments resulting from the rent concession the same way it would account for the 
change applying HKFRS 16 if the change were not a lease modification.

The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the 
Covid-19 pandemic and only if all of the following conditions are met:

(a) the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the 
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

(b) any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022; 
and

(c) there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group has applied the practical expedient consistently to all eligible rent concessions with similar 
characteristics and in similar circumstances.

 Group as a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there is a lease modification) 
each of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative 
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 
terms and is included in revenue and other income in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset 
to the lessee other than legal title, are accounted for as finance leases.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Investments and other financial assets

 Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash 
flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade 
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied 
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group 
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL, 
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which 
the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under 
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, it needs to give 
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount 
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at FVPL, 
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in 
order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from 
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and 
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets 
in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at FVOCI are 
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and 
selling. Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and 
measured at FVPL.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include unlisted equity investment, listed equity securities, trade and other 
receivables, loans receivables, restricted bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

 Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

 Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are 
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, 
modified or impaired.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade and other receivables, loans receivables, 
restricted bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents.

 Financial assets at FVPL
Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with 
net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably 
elected to classify at FVOCI. Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets at FVPL are also 
recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is 
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the 
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-financial host, is separated 
from the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not 
closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would 
meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at FVPL. Embedded 
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly 
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of 
the FVPL category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted for 
separately. The financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in 
its entirety as a financial asset at FVPL.

The Group’s financial assets at FVPL include unlisted equity investment and listed equity securities.

 Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial 
position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 
“passthrough” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

 Derecognition of financial assets (continued)
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of 
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also 
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a 
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Group could be required to repay.

 Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (the “ECL”) for all debt instruments not 
held at FVPL. ECL are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance 
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from 
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

 General approach
ECL are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECL are provided for credit losses that result from default 
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for 
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is 
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of 
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk 
of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition and considers 
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical 
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. 
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal 
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual 
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset 
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

 General approach (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are 
classified within the following stages for measurement of ECL except for trade receivables which apply 
the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss 
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased 
or originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECL

 Simplified approach
For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies 
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group 
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECL. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not 
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each 
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component and lease receivables (if any), the 
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECL with policies 
as described above.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Financial liabilities

 Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at FVPL, loans and 
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, interest-bearing borrowings and bond 
payables.

 Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost
After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they 
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised 
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is 
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or 
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference 
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

 Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously.

 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of 
purchase and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct 
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads, is calculated using the first in, first out method. Net 
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion 
and disposal.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short 
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on 
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash on hand and at banks or other financial institution, which are not restricted as to use.

 Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past 
event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, 
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at 
the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is 
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

 Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or 
loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 
the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices 
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the 
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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 Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of 
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, the 
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred 
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will 
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end 
of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes assets and deferred tax liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or 
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or 
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant 
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Revenue recognition

 Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to 
the customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services.

The Group transfers control of goods or services over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance 
obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance 
as the Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example, work in progress) that the 
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the 
Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies the performance obligation at 
a point in time when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining when the 
transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and such indicators as legal title, 
physical possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, and 
customer acceptance.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is 
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the 
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly 
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not 
occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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 Revenue recognition (Continued)

 Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant 
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue 
is measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that 
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer at contract 
inception. When the contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with a 
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the 
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract 
where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or 
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing 
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

 (a) Sale of merchandises, wines and properties
Revenue from the sale of merchandises, wines and properties are recognised at the point in time 
at which the customer obtains the control of the promised asset, which generally coincides with 
the time when the goods are delivered to customers and the title is passed.

 (b) Provision of auction and related services
Revenue from the provision of auction services mainly includes commission from auction services. 
Commission from auction services includes buyer’s and seller’s commission, the services provided to 
each of which is regarded as a distinct performance obligation satisfied at a point in time when 
the full payment of auction items is settled by the buyer and the transaction price of which is 
based on a percentage of the hammer price of the auction sales.

 Revenue from other sources

 Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms. Variable lease payments 
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which 
they are incurred.

 Interest income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate 
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial 
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) 
from a customer before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are 
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e. transfers control of the related 
goods or services to the customer).

 Share-based payments
The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to 
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including 
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees 
render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the 
date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial 
model, further details of which are given in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a 
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are 
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting 
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s 
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit 
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised at the beginning and 
end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant 
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the 
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance 
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but 
without an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting 
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award 
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have 
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the 
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is 
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, 
the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to accumulated profits/
losses.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if 
the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is 
recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is 
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, 
and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award 
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. 
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement 
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a 
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
earnings per share.

 Other employee benefits

 Pension schemes
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the 
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its Hong Kong 
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are 
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The 
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered 
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF 
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are required to participate in a 
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. The subsidiaries are required to 
contribute certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are 
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension 
scheme.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
i.e. assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases 
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the 
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted 
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they 
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with 
the borrowing of funds.

 Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general 
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and 
articles of association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, 
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

 Foreign currencies
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included 
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency 
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional 
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the 
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in 
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is 
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e. 
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive 
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the 
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the 
date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or 
non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts 
in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance 
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong 
dollars. At the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into 
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their profit or 
loss is translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the period.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive 
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are 
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently 
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the period are translated into Hong 
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the period.

 Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial 
statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior 
executive management for the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the 
Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and 
services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to 
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating 
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these 
criteria.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, assets 
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty 
about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

 Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

 Structured Arrangements
The Group conducts a substantial portion of the business through Beijing Phoenixstar in the PRC under 
the Structured Arrangements due to the regulatory restrictions on auction business in the PRC. The 
Group does not have any equity interest in Beijing Phoenixstar. The directors of the Company assessed 
whether or not the Group has control over Beijing Phoenixstar based on whether the Group has the 
power over Beijing Phoenixstar, has rights to variable returns from its involvement with Beijing 
Phoenixstar and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over Beijing Phoenixstar. The 
directors of the Company concluded that the Group has control over Beijing Phoenixstar as a result of 
the Structured Arrangements and accordingly, the Group has consolidated the financial information of 
Beijing Phoenixstar since 2016.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
 Judgements (Continued)

 Structured Arrangements (Continued)
Nevertheless, the Structured Arrangements may not be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing 
the Group with direct control over Beijing Phoenixstar and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal 
system could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of Beijing 
Phoenixstar. The directors of the Company, based on the advice from its legal counsel, consider that the 
Structured Arrangements among the Company, Beijing Phoenixstar and the Registered Shareholders are 
in compliance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally enforceable. Changes in market 
conditions or interpretations of the PRC laws and regulations in future may have a material impact on 
the assessment of control over Beijing Phoenixstar.

 Identification of leases
At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease based on 
the requirements of HKFRS 16 and all the relevant facts and circumstances. In particular, the Group 
assesses whether the contract involves the use of an identified asset by applying the concept of 
substantive substitution right. Also, the Group assesses whether the Group or the customer has the right 
to direct the use of the identified asset with reference to determination of which party has the decision-
making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. In cases 
where such decisions are predetermined, the right to operate the asset or the incorporation of such 
decisions by means of designing the asset are considered.

 Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period, are described below.

 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
The management determines the estimated useful lives of the Group’s property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets based on the experience of actual useful lives of assets of similar nature and 
functions or expected useful lives of assets, after taking into account of estimated technology life cycle. 
The estimated useful lives could be different as a result of technical innovations which could affect the 
related depreciation and amortisation charges included in profit or loss.

 Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
The management determines whether the Group’s property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
are impaired when an indication of impairment exists or when annual impairment testing is required. 
This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets, which is equal to the higher of fair value less costs of disposal or the value in use. 
Estimating the value in use requires the management to make an estimate of the expected future cash 
flows from the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and also to choose a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Any impairment will be charged 
to profit or loss.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
 Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

 Impairment assessment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash 
generating unit to which the goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair 
value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash 
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts and 
circumstances results in downward revision of future cash flows, further impairment losses may arise.

 Estimation of fair value of investment properties
The Group’s investment properties are stated at fair value based on the appraised market value provided 
by an independent professional valuer. In making the estimation, the Group considers information from 
current prices in an active market for similar properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on 
market conditions existing at each revaluation date. Such valuations were based on certain assumptions, 
which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results.

  Estimation of net realisable value of properties under development and completed properties 

held for sale
The Group considers information from a variety of sources, including recent prices of similar properties in 
the same location and condition, with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions since 
the dates of transactions that occurred at those prices. The Group determines the net realisable value 
with reference to the valuation performed by an independent professional valuer.

 Estimation of total budgeted costs and costs to completion for properties under development
Total budgeted costs for properties under development comprise (i) prepaid land lease payments; (ii) 
building costs; and (iii) any other direct costs attributable to the development of the properties. In 
estimating the total budgeted costs, management makes reference to information such as (i) current 
offers from contractors and suppliers; (ii) recent offers agreed with contractors and suppliers; and (iii) 
professional estimation on construction and material costs.

 Land appreciation tax
Under the Provisional Regulations on land appreciation tax (“LAT”) implemented upon the issuance of the 
Provisional Regulations of the PRC on 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the transfer of real estate 
properties in the PRC with effect from 1 January 1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging 
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sales of properties less 
deductible expenditures including amortisation of land use rights, borrowing costs and all property 
development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the properties development business in the PRC are subject to 
LAT, which has been included in income tax. However, the implementation of LAT varies amongst 
various PRC cities and the Group has not finalised certain of its LAT returns with various tax authorities. 
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining the amount of land appreciation and its 
related taxes. The ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The 
Group recognises these liabilities based on management’s best estimates. When the final tax outcome of 
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact on 
the income tax and provisions of LAT in the period in which such determination is made.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
 Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
 Impairment assessment of advances to consignors and related interest receivables

The Group provides certain consignors with advances secured by auction items (works of art) as 
collateral (the “Collateral”). The provision for ECL is measured at the difference of the Collateral’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, which included the consideration 
of cash flows from sale of the Collateral for each advance to a consignor. Therefore, the impairment 
assessment for these advances together with the related interest receivables requires the estimation of 
the fair value of the Collateral at the end of the reporting period. Management relies on the valuation 
opinion of art experts who consider a number of factors including recent transactions for comparable 
works of art and supply and demand and the current economic environment. Due to the subjectivity 
involved in estimating the realisable value, if the artwork market deteriorates and the overall economic 
condition were to deteriorate, actual credit losses would be higher than estimated. If the artwork market 
were to deteriorate, actual impairment losses on advances to consignors for art financing business and 
related interest receivables would be higher than estimated.

 Loss allowance for ECL
The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for trade and other receivables by using various 
inputs and assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss rate. The estimation involves high 
degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s historical information, existing market conditions as 
well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where the expectation is 
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount of trade and other 
receivables. Details of the key assumption and inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in Note 46 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

 Deferred tax assets
At 31 December 2021, a deferred tax asset of HK$18,349,000 (2020: HK$15,849,000) in relation to 
unused tax losses, deductible donation for Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”), LAT and revaluation of 
investment properties have been recognised in the statement of financial position. The recognition of the 
deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences 
will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future profits generated are less than expected, 
a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which such a reversal takes place.

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group manages its businesses by division. Segment information is disclosed in a manner consistent 
with the way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker 
(“CODM”), being the executive directors of the Company, for the purposes of performance assessment 
and resources allocation.

Based on risks and returns and the Group’s internal financial reporting, the CODM consider that the 
operating segments of the Group comprise:

• Arts and Cultural Division — mainly represents auction business and sale of antiques, art financing 
business and Art Central Business District business

• Winery and Trading Division — mainly represents operation of vineyard, production and sale of 
wines, trading of merchandises (including electronic devices, cosmetics and other consumer 
products) and related business

• Property Development Division — mainly represents properties investment and development business

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling prices used for sales made 
to third parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
 (a) Segment results

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, for performance assessment and resource 
allocation, the CODM focused on segment revenue and results attributable to each segment, which 
is measured by reference to respective segment results before tax. No analysis of the Group’s 
assets and liabilities is regularly provided to the CODM for review.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies 
described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. Segment results represent the profit/
loss of each segment without allocation of central administration costs, directors’ remuneration, 
gain on trading of listed equity securities, unrealised fair value gain on listed equity securities, and 
certain finance costs.

  Continuing operations

Arts and 
Cultural Division

Winery and Trading 
Division

Property Development 
Division Total Eliminations Consolidated

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

             

Segment revenue (Note 7)
Revenue from external customers
— Revenue from contracts with customers under 

HKFRS 15 (Note 7(a)) 7,499 29,372 9,869 107,669 48,454 9,991 65,822 147,032 — — 65,822 147,032
— Interest income from advances to consignors 39,158 43,613 — — — — 39,158 43,613 — — 39,158 43,613
— Gross rental income from investment 

properties:
Operating leases — with fixed lease 

payments 2,424 2,536 — — — — 2,424 2,536 — — 2,424 2,536
— Intersegment sales — — — 10 — — — 10 — (10) — —

Revenue from continuing operations 49,081 75,521 9,869 107,679 48,454 9,991 107,404 193,191 — (10) 107,404 193,181

Segment results* 23,603 49,264 (29,008) (6,232) 4,765 (4,389) (640) 38,643 — — (640) 38,643

Reconciliation:
Unallocated other income 1,601 4,290
Unallocated other gains and losses 2,981 7,995
Unallocated corporate and other expenses (32,462) (37,565)

(Loss) Profit before tax for the year from 
continuing operations (28,520) 13,363

Other segment information:
Depreciation and amortisation 10,502 14,434 452 541 764 597 11,718 15,572 — — 11,718 15,572
Unallocated 5,266 6,654

16,984 22,226

Capital expenditure# 12 17 — 35 — — 12 52 — — 12 52
Unallocated 6,814 707

6,826 759

Interest income from loans receivable — — — — (2,949) (8,214) (2,949) (8,214) — — (2,949) (8,214)
Unallocated (1,257) —

(4,206) (8,214)

Impairment of trade and other receivables — — 23,418 3,836 8,574 — 31,992 3,836 — — 31,992 3,836
Write off of other receivables — — — 79 — — — 79 — — — 79
Write off of advances to consignors and related 

interest receivables — 8,817 — — — — — 8,817 — — — 8,817
Compensation for profit guarantee — (2,888) — — — — — (2,888) — — — (2,888)
Gross rental income from completed properties 

held for sale — — — — (6,051) (3,138) (6,051) (3,138) — — (6,051) (3,138)
Fair value loss on investment properties 4,097 5,173 — — — — 4,097 5,173 — — 4,097 5,173

* Segment results are before tax
# Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
 (b) Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, Mainland China and France. The following table 
sets out information about the geographical locations of (i) the Group’s revenue from continuing 
operations from external customers for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020; and (ii) the 
Group’s property, plant and equipment, investment properties, intangible assets, goodwill and 
properties under development (“Specified Non-Current Assets”) at 31 December 2021 and 2020. 
The geographical location of customers is based on the location at which services were provided 
and goods were delivered and title has been passed. The geographical location of property, plant 
and equipment, investment properties and properties under development is based on the physical 
location of the assets and the geographical location of goodwill and intangible assets is based on 
the location of the respective business operations.

Revenue from external 
customers

Specified 
Non-Current Assets

2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Hong Kong 31,761 167,231 6,594 5,130
Mainland China 75,022 25,355 368,911 370,755
France 621 595 19,429 22,261

107,404 193,181 394,934 398,146

 (c) Information about major customers
Revenue from each major customer which accounted for 10% or more of the total revenue of the 
Group for the corresponding years is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Winery and Trading Division
Customer A — 38,146
Customer B — 21,203
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7. REVENUE
An analysis of revenue from continuing operations is as follows:

2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000    

Revenue from contracts with customers under  
HKFRS 15
Sale of merchandises and wines 9,869 107,669
Sale of properties 48,454 9,991
Auction and related services 7,499 29,372

7(a) 65,822 147,032

Revenue from other sources
Interest income from advances to consignors 39,158 43,613
Gross rental income from investment properties:

Operating leases — with fixed lease payments 2,424 2,536

41,582 46,149

Total revenue 107,404 193,181

 (a) Disaggregation of revenue information

  For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Arts and 
Cultural 
Division

Winery and 
Trading 
Division

Property 
Development 

Division Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Types of goods or services
Sale of merchandises and 

wines — 9,869 — 9,869
Sale of properties — — 48,454 48,454
Auction and related services 7,499 — — 7,499

Total revenue from contracts 
with customers under 
HKFRS 15 7,499 9,869 48,454 65,822

Geographical markets
Mainland China 7,499 6,166 48,454 62,119
Hong Kong — 3,082 — 3,082
France — 621 — 621

Total revenue from contracts 
with customers under 
HKFRS 15 7,499 9,869 48,454 65,822
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7. REVENUE (Continued)
 (a) Disaggregation of revenue information (Continued)
  For the year ended 31 December 2020 

Arts and 
Cultural 
Division

Winery and 
Trading 
Division

Property 
Development 

Division Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

Types of goods or 
services

Sale of merchandises and 
wines — 107,669 — 107,669

Sale of properties — — 9,991 9,991
Auction and related 

services 29,372 — — 29,372

Total revenue from 
contracts with customers 
under HKFRS 15 29,372 107,669 9,991 147,032

Geographical markets
Mainland China 1,313 1,032 9,991 12,336
Hong Kong 28,059 106,042 — 134,101
France — 595 — 595

Total revenue from 
contracts with customers 
under HKFRS 15 29,372 107,669 9,991 147,032

All revenue from contracts with customers is recognised at the point in time when the control of 
the assets is transferred or the services are provided to the customers.

8. OTHER INCOME
An analysis of other income from continuing operations is as follows:

2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000    

Bank interest income 71 1,268
Compensation for profit guarantee 8(a) — 2,888
Government grants 35 1,021
Gross rental income from completed properties held 

for sale 6,051 3,138
Interest income from loans receivables 4,206 8,214
Sundry income 425 2,644

10,788 19,173
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8. OTHER INCOME (Continued)
(a) Included in the sale and purchase agreement of the acquisition of the auction business in 2016 was 

a contingent consideration arrangement of average profit guarantee, which has been extended to 
31 December 2019. The directors of the Company assessed that the fair value of the contingent 
consideration receivable was insignificant at 31 December 2019. On 30 September 2020, the 
Company received the shortfall of average net profit as compensation of the profit guarantee 
regarding to the auction business cash-generating unit of approximately RMB2,500,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$2,888,000). Details of the compensation of profit guarantee are set out in the 
Company’s announcement dated 30 September 2020.

9. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX
(Loss) Profit before tax from continuing operations has been arrived at after charging:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000    

(a) Staff costs (including the directors’ remuneration)
Salaries, bonus, allowances and other benefits in kind 38,321 35,134
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 

(Note) 2,901 1,340
Share-based payment expenses 2,615 4,128

43,837 40,602

(b) Depreciation and amortisation expenses
Depreciation of owned assets 3,266 5,072
Less: Amount included in inventory overheads (1,010) (1,101)

2,256 3,971
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8,233 10,775
Amortisation of intangible assets 6,495 7,480

16,984 22,226

(c) Other items (included in other operating expenses)
Auditor’s remuneration 1,550 1,513
Legal and professional fees 4,541 4,433
Secretarial and registration fees 824 781
Lease payments not included in the measurement of 

lease liabilities 268 148

Note:  To support the PRC entities under Covid-19, from February 2020 to December 2020, the relevant PRC government 
authorities had given certain temporary reliefs to entities incorporated in the PRC to exempt from payment of 
certain amount of levies on the society security insurance.
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10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES
An analysis of other gains (losses) from continuing operations is as follows:

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Write off of advances to consignors and related 
interest receivables 26(b) — (8,817)

Write off of other receivables — (79)
Foreign exchange differences, net 6,636 13,965
Gain on trading of listed equity securities 23(b) 244 573
Unrealised fair value gains on listed equity securities 23(b) 161 —
Fair value loss on investment properties 19 (4,097) (5,173)

2,944 469

11. FINANCE COSTS
An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Interest on lease liabilities 185 425
Interest on bond payables 77 —
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings 73,248 35,873

Total borrowing costs 73,510 36,298

Less:  Borrowing costs capitalised into properties under development (71,727) (33,641)

1,783 2,657

The borrowing costs related to interest-bearing borrowings specific to property development were 
entirely capitalised. The remaining borrowing costs were related to other interest-bearing borrowings for 
general working capital.
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as 
follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Fees 1,017 1,675

Other emoluments:
Salaries, bonus allowances and other benefits in kind 8,284 8,989
Share-based payment expenses 1,207 4,128
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 89 86

9,580 13,203

10,597 14,878

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances 
and other 

benefits in 
kind

Discretionary 
Bonus

Share-based 
payment 
expenses

Contributions 
to defined 

contribution 
retirement 

plans Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

2021

Executive directors:
Lu Jianzhong (Chairman) — 360 — — — 360
Yang Xingwen — 360 — — — 360
Ma Chao*# 

(Executive Vice-
chairman) — 2,487 — 2,480 11 4,978

Kam Hou Yin John*# 
(Chief Executive Officer) — 1,450 — 1,585 20 3,055

Wong Kwok Tung Gordon 
Allan (Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer) — 1,397 — — 33 1,430

Xu Lin^ (Ex-Executive Vice-
chairman) — 230 — (2,664) 3 (2,431)

Xu Zhihong^ (Ex-Co-Chief 
Executive Officer) — 1,460 540 (194) 22 1,828

Non-executive director:
Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry^ 77 — — — — 77

Independent non-
executive directors:

Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper 300 — — — — 300
Tse Yung Hoi 340 — — — — 340
Kwok Chi Shing 300 — — — — 300

1,017 7,744 540 1,207 89 10,597
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)  

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances and 
other benefits 

in kind
Discretionary 

bonus

Share-based 
payment 
expenses

Contributions 
to defined 

contribution 
retirement 

plans Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

2020

Executive directors:
Lai Kim Fung^# (Ex-Co-

Chief Executive Officer) — 2,410 — — 24 2,434
Lu Jianzhong (Chairman) — 360 — — — 360
Wong Kwok Tung Gordon 

Allan (Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer) — 846 — — 26 872

Xu Lin* (Executive 
Vice-chairman) — 2,601 — 2,664 24 5,289

Xu Zhihong*# (Co-Chief 
Executive Officer) — 2,412 — 1,464 12 3,888

Yang Xingwen — 360 — — — 360

Non-executive directors:
Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry 360 — — — — 360
Jean-Guy Carrier^ 142 — — — — 142

Independent non-
executive directors:

Cheng Yuk Wo@ 148 — — — — 148
Kwok Chi Shing* 177 — — — — 177
Tsui Yiu Wa, Alec@ 148 — — — — 148
Tse Yung Hoi 360 — — — — 360
Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper* 100 — — — — 100
Wang Shi^ 240 — — — — 240

1,675 8,989 — 4,128 86 14,878

* Xu Lin, Xu Zhihong, Ma Chao and Kam Hou Yin John have been appointed as executive directors of the Company 
with effect from 1 April 2020, 1 September 2020, 1 February 2021 and 1 September 2021, respectively. Kwok 
Chi Shing and Tsang Yok Sing, Jasper have been appointed as independent non-executive directors of the 
Company with effect from 29 May 2020 and 1 September 2020, respectively.

^ Lai Kim Fung, co-chief executive officer, Xu Lin, executive vice-chairman, and Xu Zhihong, co-chief executive 
officer, have resigned as executive directors of the Company with effect from 1 September 2020, 1 February 
2021 and 1 September 2021, respectively. Jean-Guy Carrier and Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry have resigned as non-
executive directors of the Company with effect from 23 May 2020 and 19 March 2021, respectively. Wang Shi 
has resigned as independent non-executive directors of the Company with effect from 1 September 2020.

@ Cheng Yuk Wo and Tsui Yiu Wa, Alec have retired as independent non-executive directors of the Company with 
effect from 29 May 2020.

# Ma Chao has been appointed as executive vice-chairman on 29 March 2021. Kam Hou Yin John has been 
appointed as co-chief executive officer on 12 March 2021 and re-designated from co-chief executive officer to 
chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 1 September 2021. Lai Kim Fung has been re-
designated from chief executive office to co-chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 16 June 
2020. Xu Zhihong was appointed as the co-chief executive officer of the Company on 16 June 2020 and re-
designated from co-chief executive officer to chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 1 
September 2020, and subsequently redesignated from chief executive officer to co-chief executive officer of the 
Company with effect from 12 March 2021.
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION  (Continued)
The remuneration of executive directors shown above were paid for their services in connection with the 
management of the affairs and for serving as directors of the Company and the Group, and those to 
non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors are for serving as directors of the 
Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, certain directors were granted share options, in 
respect of their services to the Group under the share option schemes of the Company. During the year 
ended 31 December 2021, upon the resignation of Xu Lin and Xu Zhihong, the share options granted 
but not vested were all forfeited and reversed in profit or loss. Further details of which are set out in 
Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has been 
recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined at the date of grant and the 
amounts are included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of 
these directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of 
office. No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 December 
2021 and 2020.

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year ended 31 December 2021 included four directors (2020: 
three directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 12 above. Details of the 
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2021 of the remaining one (2020: two) highest paid 
employee who is neither a director nor chief executive of the Company is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Salaries, bonus, allowances and benefits in kind 1,122 2,362
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 18 33
Share-based payment expenses 956 —

2,096 2,395
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13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell 
within the following bands is as follows.

Number of individuals
2021 2020

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 — 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 —

1 2

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, share options were granted to non-director and 
non-chief executive highest paid employees in respect of his services to the Group, further details of 
which are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. The fair value of such options, 
which has been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined at the date of grant 
and the amount are included in the consolidated financial statements for the current period is included 
in the above non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures. 
During the year ended 31 December 2020, upon the resignation of an employee, the share options 
granted but not vested were all forfeited and reversed in profit or loss. None of the share options was 
exercised and he was no longer eligible to the share option scheme upon his resignation.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no remuneration was paid by the Group to any 
of these non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon 
joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. None of these non-director and non-chief 
executive highest paid employees waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments during the years 
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

14. INCOME TAX
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated 
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year ended 31 December 2021 except for one 
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime 
effective from the year of assessment 2018/2019. The first HK$2,000,000 (2020: HK$2,000,000) of 
assessable profits of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% (2020: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits 
are taxed at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%).

The Group’s entities established in the PRC are subject to EIT of the PRC at a statutory rate of 25% 
(2020: 25%) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The PRC LAT was provided in accordance with the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC laws and 
regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation value, with certain 
allowable deductions.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries 
in which the Group operates.
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14. INCOME TAX (Continued)

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Current tax
Hong Kong Profits Tax

Current year 180 3,266
Overprovision in prior years (Note) — (4,747)

180 (1,481)

PRC EIT
Current year 1,338 1,998
Overprovision in prior years (1,234) —

104 1,998

PRC LAT 9,159 796

9,443 1,313

Deferred tax (Note 33) (3,598) (2,869)

Income tax expenses (credits) 5,845 (1,556)

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Reconciliation of income tax expenses (credits)

(Loss) Profit before tax from continuing operations (28,520) 13,363

Tax at the statutory tax rates of different jurisdictions (5,331) 1,007
Lower tax rate enacted by local authorities (165) (165)
LAT 9,159 796
EIT effect of LAT (2,261) (193)
Income not subject to tax (1,550) (563)
Expenses not deductible for tax 3,608 2,970
Utilisation of previous unrecognised tax losses (1,791) (2,937)
Tax losses not recognised 5,410 2,304
Overprovision in prior years (1,234) (4,747)
Others — (28)

Income tax expenses (credits) 5,845 (1,556)

Note:  In May 2020, the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department concluded tax treatment regarding certain deductible 
expenses with the Group, in which tax provision was already provided in prior years. As a result, the related 
provision was reversed during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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15. DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the Company during the years ended 31 
December 2021 and 2020, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period 
(2020: Nil).

16.  (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 
COMPANY
The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share is based on the (loss) profit for the year 
attributable to equity holders of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 
667,525,230 (2020: 667,493,427) in issue during the year ended 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the calculation of the diluted loss per share for the Group is 
based on the loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company for the Group. Diluted loss 
per share is the same as the basic loss per share as the potential new ordinary shares have an anti-
dilutive effect on the basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2021. For the year ended 31 
December 2020, the calculation of the diluted earnings per share attributable to discontinued operation 
and for the Group were based on the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company 
for the discontinued operation and for the Group. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used 
in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic (loss) 
earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares is assumed to have 
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into 
ordinary shares.

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the 
Company is based on:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

(Loss) Earnings
(Loss) Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, used in 

the basic (loss) earnings per share calculation:
From continuing operations (33,656) 17,237
From discontinued operation — 15,319

(Loss) Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (33,656) 32,556

Number of shares
2021 2020

Shares:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the 

year used in the basic (loss) earnings per share calculation 667,525,230 667,493,427

Effect of dilution — weighted average number of ordinary shares:
Share options 3,079,178 4,113,013

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the 
year used in the diluted (loss) earnings per share calculation 670,604,408 671,606,440
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17. SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name
Place of incorporation/
registration and business

Issued ordinary/
registered share capital

Percentage of equity 
attributable to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect
      

Beijing Phoenixstar# The PRC RMB10,000,000 — 100% Auction business
KSLF (HK) Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Auction business
DTXS Silk Road Investment (Hong Kong) 

Limited
Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 — 100% Provision of 

management 
services to group 
companies

DTXS International Wine & Spirits Trade 
(HK) Company Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Trading business

DTXS International Wine & Spirits Trade (SZ) 
Company Limited* 
大唐西市酒業國際貿易(深圳)有限公司##

The PRC RMB5,000,000 — 100% Trading business

Silk Road Online Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Trading business
Xian Silk Road Commercial Consultancy 

Company Limited* 
西安絲綢之路商務信息諮詢有限公司##

The PRC RMB40,000,000 — 100% Properties investment

Wealthy Forest-Puy Bardens SAS France Euro 4,630,000 — 100% Vineyard business
Xian Da Tang Xi Shi Enterprise Limited* 

(“DTXS Enterprise”) 
西安大唐西市實業有限公司^

The PRC RMB166,500,000 — 70% Properties 
development

DTXS Art & Culture CBD Company Limited BVI United States Dollar 1 — 100% Investment holding

* For identification purpose only.

# Registered as a domestic limited liability company under the PRC law and controlled by the Group through certain 
structured agreements as detailed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

## Registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC law.

^ Acquired during the year ended 31 December 2020 (Note 37).

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the Company’s directors, 
principally affected the results or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2021. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the 
Company’s directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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17. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
 Financial information of subsidiaries with individually material NCI

The following table shows the information relating to the non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material 
NCI. The summarised financial information represents amounts before inter-company eliminations.

DTXS Enterprise
2021 2020   

Proportion of NCI’s ownership interests 30% 30%

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Current assets 2,610,011 1,376,262
Non-current assets 40,206 36,227
Current liabilities (1,009,865) (1,168,153)
Non-current liabilities (1,390,941) —

Net assets 249,411 244,336

Carrying amount of NCI 74,823 73,301

For the year
ended

31 December
2021

For the period
from

12 March
2020 to

31 December
2020

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Revenue/Income 57,478 21,378
Expenses (59,666) (27,822)

Loss for the year/period (2,188) (6,444)
Other comprehensive income 7,264 16,743

Total comprehensive income 5,076 10,299

Loss for the year/period attributable to NCI (656) (1,933)

Total comprehensive income attributable to NCI 1,523 3,090

Dividends paid to NCI — —

Net cash flows (used in) from:
Operating activities (964,886) (66,556)
Investing activities — 73,365
Financing activities 836,811 128,329

Total cash inflows, net (128,075) 135,138
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Right-of-use assets Owned assets

Leasehold 

land Buildings Sub-total

Leasehold 

improvements

Furniture, 

fixtures and 

office 

equipment

Plant, 

machinery and 

workshop 

equipment

Motor 

vehicles Buildings

Freehold 

land

Bearer  

plants Sub-total Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
             

31 December 2021

At 1 January 2021, cost net of 

accumulated depreciation 

and impairment 64,213 6,423 70,636 263 346 2,235 1,698 31,675 1,201 5,343 42,761 113,397

Additions — 6,814 6,814 — — 12 — — — — 12 6,826

Depreciation (2,062) (6,171) (8,233) (216) (96) (15) (966) (1,662) — (311) (3,266) (11,499)

Exchange realignment 1,886 38 1,924 117 4 (154) 22 (535) (3) (349) (898) 1,026

At 31 December 2021, cost net 

of accumulated depreciation 

and impairment 64,037 7,104 71,141 164 254 2,078 754 29,478 1,198 4,683 38,609 109,750

At 31 December 2021

Cost 74,358 14,331 88,689 1,097 2,498 2,820 5,636 37,157 1,198 6,044 56,450 145,139

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment (10,321) (7,227) (17,548) (933) (2,244) (742) (4,882) (7,679) — (1,361) (17,841) (35,389)

Net carrying amount 64,037 7,104 71,141 164 254 2,078 754 29,478 1,198 4,683 38,609 109,750
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)  

Right-of-use assets Owned assets

Leasehold 

land Buildings Sub-total

Leasehold 

improvements

Furniture, 

fixtures and 

office 

equipment

Plant, 

machinery and 

workshop 

equipment Motor vehicles Buildings Freehold land Bearer plants Sub-total Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
             

31 December 2020

At 1 January 2020, cost net of 

accumulated depreciation 

and impairment 62,116 17,279 79,395 2,376 381 2,185 — 31,008 1,102 5,209 42,261 121,656

Additions from acquisition of 

subsidiaries under common 

control (Note 37) — — — — 132 — 1,621 — — — 1,753 1,753

Additions — — — — — 52 707 — — — 759 759

Termination of lease — (2,138) (2,138) — — — — — — — — (2,138)

Depreciation (1,924) (8,851) (10,775) (2,139) (181) (166) (705) (1,582) — (299) (5,072) (15,847)

Exchange realignment 4,021 133 4,154 26 14 164 75 2,249 99 433 3,060 7,214

At 31 December 2020, cost net 

of accumulated depreciation 

and impairment 64,213 6,423 70,636 263 346 2,235 1,698 31,675 1,201 5,343 42,761 113,397

At 31 December 2020

Cost 72,201 18,425 90,626 9,959 2,481 2,975 5,494 37,922 1,201 6,492 66,524 157,150

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment (7,988) (12,002) (19,990) (9,696) (2,135) (740) (3,796) (6,247) — (1,149) (23,763) (43,753)

Net carrying amount 64,213 6,423 70,636 263 346 2,235 1,698 31,675 1,201 5,343 42,761 113,397

At 31 December 2021, the Group had property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$19,429,000 
(2020: approximately HK$22,258,000) related to the cash-generating unit of the Winery and Trading 
Division. Given the Winery and Trading Division was loss making during the years ended 31 December 
2021 and 2020, impairment assessment has been performed. No impairment loss was recognised during 
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. The recoverable amount was determined based on the 
fair value less costs of disposal, using a market approach, which took into account current prices of 
these property, plant and equipment of similar locations and conditions and such fair value measurement 
was categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Carrying amount at 1 January 50,392 52,377
Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss (4,097) (5,173)
Exchange realignment 1,441 3,188

Carrying amount at 31 December 47,736 50,392

The Group’s investment properties consist of commercial properties situated in Mainland China.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2021 based on valuation performed 
by Asset Appraisal Limited, independent professionally qualified valuer, at approximately HK$47,736,000 
(2020: approximately HK$50,392,000). The Group’s property manager and the chief financial officer have 
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is 
performed.

The investment properties are leased to a related party under an operating lease, further details of which 
are included in Notes 20 and 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

 Fair value hierarchy
For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair value measurement of investment properties 
of the Group was categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3.

Set out below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key input to the valuation of 
investment properties:

Assets Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Weighted average    

Commercial properties Direct comparison Selling price 
(per square meter)

HK$56,304 
(2020: HK$59,425)

A significant increase (decrease) in the selling price per square meter in isolation would result in a 
significant higher (lower) fair value of the investment properties.
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20. LEASES
 The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its operations. Certain purchased buildings were 
developed on leased land and lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the buildings with the 
land use rights with lease periods of 50 years and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms 
of these land leases. Leases of other buildings generally have lease terms of 2 years.

 (a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets (included in property, plant and 
equipment) and the movements during the year are as follows:

Leasehold 
land Buildings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 1 January 2021 64,213 6,423 70,636
Additions — 6,814 6,814
Depreciation (2,062) (6,171) (8,233)
Exchange realignment 1,886 38 1,924

At 31 December 2021 64,037 7,104 71,141

At 1 January 2020 62,116 17,279 79,395
Termination of lease — (2,138) (2,138)
Depreciation (1,924) (8,851) (10,775)
Exchange realignment 4,021 133 4,154

At 31 December 2020 64,213 6,423 70,636
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20. LEASES (Continued)
 The Group as a lessee (Continued)

 (b) Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included in trade and other payables) and the movements 
during the year are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Carrying amount at 1 January 6,966 17,653
New leases 6,814 —
Accretion of interest recognised during the year 185 425
Termination of lease — (2,172)
Payments (6,599) (9,269)
Exchange realignment (148) 329

Carrying amount at 31 December (Note 30) 7,218 6,966

Analysed into:
— Current portion 4,305 6,046
— Non-current portion 2,913 920

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 46 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

 (c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows: 

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Interest on lease liabilities 185 425
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 8,233 10,775
Expenses relating to short-term leases 268 148

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 8,686 11,348

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in Note 41(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

 (e) Commitments under leases
At 31 December 2021, the Group was committed to approximately HK$528,000 (2020: 
HK$185,000) for short-term leases.
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20. LEASES (Continued)
 The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties and completed properties held for sale, consisting of 
commercial properties in Mainland China, under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the lease 
require the tenants to pay security deposits. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year 
ended 31 December 2021 was approximately HK$8,475,000 (2020: approximately HK$5,674,000), details 
of which are included in Notes 7 and 8 to consolidated financial statements.

The assets subject to operating leases are exposed to residual value risk. The lease contracts, as a result, 
include a provision on redemption of costs on any damage to the underlying assets at the end of the 
leases.

At the end of the year, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods 
under the non-cancellable operating lease with its tenants are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within one year 1,499 3,039

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

License Brands
Customer 

relationship
Computer 
software Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

31 December 2021
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated 

amortisation — 76,227 1,409 83 77,719
Amortisation provided during the period — (4,986) (1,426) (83) (6,495)
Exchange realignment — 2,198 17 — 2,215

Net carrying amount — 73,439 — — 73,439

At 31 December 2021:
Cost 500 101,296 14,479 500 116,775
Accumulated amortisation (500) (27,857) (14,479) (500) (43,336)

Net carrying amount — 73,439 — — 73,439

31 December 2020
Cost at 1 January 2020, net of accumulated 

amortisation — 76,093 3,957 250 80,300
Amortisation provided during the period — (4,653) (2,660) (167) (7,480)
Exchange realignment — 4,787 112 — 4,899

Net carrying amount — 76,227 1,409 83 77,719

At 31 December 2020:
Cost 484 98,358 14,062 578 113,482
Accumulated amortisation (484) (22,131) (12,653) (495) (35,763)

Net carrying amount — 76,227 1,409 83 77,719
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
The remaining amortisation period of brands, which is with finite useful lives, at 31 December 2021 is 
14.5 years (2020: 15.5 years) with carrying amount of approximately HK$73,439,000 (2020: 
approximately HK$76,227,000).

22. GOODWILL 

Auction 
business
HK$’000  

31 December 2021
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated impairment 137,111
Exchange realignment 4,096

Net carrying amount 141,207

At 31 December 2021:
Cost 177,207
Accumulated impairment (36,000)

Net carrying amount 141,207

31 December 2020
Cost at 1 January 2020, net of accumulated impairment 128,563
Exchange realignment 8,548

Net carrying amount 137,111

At 31 December 2020:
Cost 173,111
Accumulated impairment (36,000)

Net carrying amount 137,111
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22. GOODWILL (Continued)
 Impairment testing of goodwill

 Auction business cash-generating unit
The recoverable amount of the auction business cash-generating unit has been determined based on a 
value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year 
period, with average growth rate of 6% (2020: 3%), approved by the Group’s senior management. The 
pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 21.3% (2020: 21.7%). The growth rate used 
to extrapolate the cash flows of the auction business beyond the five-year period is 2% (2020: 3%). The 
growth rate is based on the relevant industry long term growth rate in the jurisdiction in which the 
auction business cash-generating unit operates.

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the auction business cash-generating unit for 
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. The following describe each key assumption on which 
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

• Forecasted growth rates — The forecasted growth rates are based on the historical operating results, 
expected market development as well as industry forecasts.

• Forecasted interest income from the consignors — The forecasted interest income from the 
consignors is based on the balances of the advances to consignors at the end of the reporting 
period and expectation of future changes of working capital that are available for advances to 
consignors.

• Discount rate — the discount rate is based on the estimation of the required rate of returns that 
reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money, general market risk and 
specific risks relating to the auction business.

Based on the result of the impairment testing of goodwill, at 31 December 2021, the recoverable 
amount of the auction business cash-generating unit is higher than its carrying amount by approximately 
HK$65,662,000 (2020: HK$74,815,000). Accordingly, no impairment is recognised for the years ended 
31 December 2021 and 2020.

The management considered that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions used in the 
value-in-use calculation on the auction business cash-generating unit would not cause an impairment loss 
at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL 

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Non-current portion:
— Unlisted equity investment 23(a) 7,711 —

Current portion:
— Listed equity securities 23(b) 960 —

8,671 —

 (a) Unlisted equity investment
At 31 December 2020, loans receivable of RMB6,300,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$7,488,000) was made to an independent third party, which was repayable in 6 months. Upon 
the expiration of the loans receivable, the independent third party was unable to settle the loans 
receivable.

On 20 September 2021, the Group had negotiated and signed an agreement with the 
independent third party and agreed to settle the loans receivable by 5.1% paid-up equity interest 
of a PRC company owned by the independent third party.

The Group intends to hold the unlisted equity interest in the PRC company for long-term and not 
for trading. The Group had elected to measure such equity interest at fair value through profit or 
loss. Remaining registered and unpaid share capital entitled by the Group in respect of the unlisted 
equity investment amounted to RMB14,700,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$17,993,000).

The unlisted equity investment was evaluated at 31 December 2021 based on the amount of the 
net asset value of the PRC company with proportionate to the shareholding owned by the Group.

 (b) Listed equity securities
At 31 December 2021, the listed equity securities are listed in Hong Kong. The fair values of the 
listed equity securities are determined on the basis of quoted market closing prices available on the 
relevant stock exchanges at the end of reporting period.

As disclosed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, during the year ended 31 
December 2021, the trading of listed equity securities activities has recorded gains of 
approximately HK$244,000 (2020: approximately HK$573,000) and unrealised fair value gains of 
approximately HK$161,000 (2020: Nil).

Details of fair value measurement are disclosed in Note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.
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24.  PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD 
FOR SALE 

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Properties under development
— Current portion 1,775,340 1,002,458
— Non-current portion 22,802 19,527

1,798,142 1,021,985

Completed properties held for sale
— Current portion 168,607 176,835

1,966,749 1,198,820

Properties under development
Properties under development expected to be completed within 

normal operating cycle and recovered:
Within one year 1,045,895 —
After one year 729,445 1,002,458

1,775,340 1,002,458

Properties under development and completed properties held for sale are acquired through the HK DTXS 
Acquisition (as defined in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements). Details of the acquisition are 
set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s properties under development and completed properties held for sale situated in Mainland 
China are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value and held on leases with original lease terms 
between 40 and 70 years.

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s properties under development, including the relevant land use 
rights, of approximately HK$1,775,340,000 (2020: approximately HK$1,002,458,000) and completed 
properties held for sale of approximately HK$32,112,000 (2020: Nil) were pledged to a bank to secure 
certain interest-bearing borrowings granted to the Group, which is set out in Note 31 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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25. INVENTORIES 

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Wines 14,341 18,222
Merchandises and artworks for sales 29,213 29,625

43,554 47,847

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Trade receivables
— Receivables from customers 33,403 28,325
— Interest receivables 87,150 55,182

Loss allowances (18,119) (3,632)

26(a) 102,434 79,875

Other receivables 1,105,223 540,367
Loss allowances (17,829) (204)

26(b) 1,087,394 540,163

1,189,828 620,038
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
 (a) Trade receivables

The Group’s trade receivables include interest receivables from art financing business, rental 
receivables from the leasing of investment properties and receivables from the trading of 
merchandises and wines.

The interest receivables derived from the art financing business are secured by pledged auction 
items provided by consignors as disclosed in Note 26(b)(i) below. The Group generally requires 
consignors to settle the interest receivables in accordance with respective contracted terms, 
normally due monthly or due together with the advances to consignors for the art financing 
business.

For the sale of merchandises and wines, the Group generally grants credit periods of 30 days upon 
delivery of goods to customers.

The rental receivable is normally billed in advance and due within the billing period.

Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its 
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by senior management. Trade 
receivables are non-interest bearing. Except for the aforementioned, the Group does not hold any 
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivables.

At 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s trade receivables are balances due from related 
parties amounting to approximately HK$6,321,000 (2020: approximately HK$3,595,000).

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables at the end of the reporting period, based on the 
invoice date and net of loss allowances, is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Unbilled 6,878 6,214
0–30 days 12,426 9,997
31–90 days 3,131 12,574
91–180 days 13,898 15,821
181–360 days 19,530 21,378
Over 360 days 46,571 13,891

102,434 79,875
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
 (a) Trade receivables (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowances for trade receivables are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

At the beginning of the year 3,632 —
Impairment losses, net 14,415 3,632
Exchange realignment 72 —

At the end of the year 18,119 3,632

Details of ECL are disclosed in Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

 (b) Other receivables

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Advances to consignors for art financing 
business 26(b)(i) 445,867 481,036

Interest receivables 6,680 8,682
Other receivables 22,163 18,501
Deposits 2,541 4,749
Prepayments 26(b)(ii) 627,972 27,399
Loss allowances (17,829) (204)

1,087,394 540,163
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
 (b) Other receivables (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The balance is secured by pledged auction items (Chinese art collectibles and antiques) from consignors 
and bears interest at fixed interest rates ranging from 8% to 15% per annum (2020: 8% to 22%). 
These advances to consignors for art financing business are generally repayable within a period of 1 year 
from the draw-down date or 60 days after the pledged auction items are listed in auction.

If pledged auction items are sold in auction, the proceeds received from the buyer, after deducting 
commission, advances to consignors, related interest and relevant taxes, will be paid to the consignors. If 
the pledged auction items remain unsold upon the expiration of advances to consignors, the consignors 
will be required to repay the advances and related interest before the pledged auction items are 
returned to the consignors. In the event of default as defined in the relevant contracts, the Group has 
the right to dispose of the pledged auction items. The risk of unrecoverable principal and interest is 
compensated by the realisable value of these pledged auction items.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had taken legal action against certain consignors 
in related to their long outstanding balances while the Group continued to collect these balances. 
However, in consideration of increasing in credit risk of these advances to consignors and related interest 
receivables, total outstanding balance of approximately HK$8,817,000 of advances to consignors and 
related interest receivables due from these consignors were written off during the year ended 31 
December 2020.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the net realisable value of the pledged auction items from the 
consignors, except for those related to aforementioned balances written off in the year ended 31 
December 2020, was higher than the carrying amount of any outstanding balances.

Saved as mentioned, at 31 December 2021, based on the due dates of the respective receivables, 
approximately 1.4% (2020: approximately 4.1%) of the advances were aged over 180 days and all the 
remaining balances were not yet due. No further provision was made on the remaining balances.

(ii)  At 31 December 2021, the balance mainly represents prepayments of construction costs for property 
development of approximately HK$546,568,000 (2020: approximately HK$11,831,000) related to the 
major construction works commenced in the Mainland China during the year, and prepaid PRC taxes 
related to construction cost for completed properties held for sale and properties under development in 
the Mainland China of approximately HK$78,512,000 (2020: approximately HK$11,534,000).

The movements in the loss allowances for other receivables are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000    

At the beginning of the year 204 —
Impairment losses, net 17,577 204
Exchange realignment 48 —

At the end of the year 17,829 204

Details of ECL are disclosed in Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.
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27. LOANS RECEIVABLES 

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Unsecured loans
—  Loans bear fixed interest rate of 12% 

 per annum, denominated in RMB 27(a) — 7,488
—  Loans bear fixed interest rate of 12% 

 per annum, denominated in HK$ 27(b) 13,000 —

13,000 7,488

Notes:

(a) At 31 December 2020, loans receivable of RMB6,300,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,488,000) was made 
to an independent third party. The loan was unsecured, repayable with a term of 6 months and carried 
interest at a fixed interest rate of 12% per annum.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had agreed with the independent third party to settle 
the loans receivable with equity interest of a PRC company. Details of the equity interest are disclosed in Note 
23(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) At 31 December 2021, loans receivable of HK$13,000,000 was made to an independent third party, which was 
unsecured, repayable with a term of 1 year and carried interest at a fixed interest rate of 12% per annum.

28. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS
According to the relevant mortgage facility agreements entered by DTXS Enterprise with certain banks, 
DTXS Enterprise is required to place at designated bank accounts certain amounts as deposits for 
potential default of mortgage loans advanced to property purchasers. These guarantee deposits will be 
released after the property ownership certificates of the relevant properties are passed to the banks.

29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Cash and bank balances 28,124 193,396

Cash and cash equivalents 28,124 193,396

HK$ 1,168 37,139
RMB 26,930 154,265
Other currencies 26 1,992

28,124 193,396
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Trade payables 30(a) 119,038 167,532
Accruals 12,785 8,981
Lease liabilities 20 7,218 6,966
Interest payables 30(b) 3,948 46,215
Other payables 30(c) 142,568 83,175
Deposits received 7,191 6,993
Contract liabilities 30(d) 353,951 90,326
Receipt in advance 2,125 1,368

648,824 411,556

Analysed into:
— Current portion 645,911 410,636
— Non-current portion 2,913 920

648,824 411,556

Notes:

(a) The trade payables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable within normal operating cycles or on demand. The 
ageing analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

0–30 days 13,149 12,268
31–90 days 27,067 25,721
91–180 days 32,933 47,666
181–360 days 15,487 10,500
Over 360 days 30,402 71,377

119,038 167,532

(b) During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, the Group had agreed with the bank to defer the 
settlement on loan interests of secured bank loans as set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial 
statements due to Covid-19. At 31 December 2020, the balance mainly represented bank loan interest 
payables of approximately HK$43,953,000. In September 2021, such bank loan interest payables were fully 
settled with no past due.

At 31 December 2021, the balance represents the bank loan interest payable for the new interest-bearing 
borrowings drawn down from banks and the other loan interest payable for the other loans drawn down from 
independent third parties.
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(c) At 31 December 2021, other payables include PRC taxes payable incurred from the operations in the PRC and 
the funds received by the Group from third parties for constructing a replacement area of the construction 
projects, which would be utilised to net off the construction cost of properties under development when the 
project is completed, with carrying amount of approximately HK$49,413,000 (2020: approximately 
HK$38,858,000) and approximately HK$29,498,000 (2020: approximately HK$28,642,000), respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a sales contract was terminated and the relevant receipt in advance 
of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$48,960,000) pending to be refunded to the customer, 
which was included in other payables at 31 December 2021.

(d) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, contract liabilities are incurred from sales of properties, represented sale 
proceeds received from customers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties. The Group received 
advances from customers based on billing schedules as established in the sales of properties. Payments are 
usually received in advance of the performance under the contracts. The contract liabilities will be transferred 
to profit or loss when the Group’s revenue recognition criteria are met.

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and decreases both occurred within the same period) of 
contract liabilities from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 during the reporting period are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At the beginning of the year 90,326 —

Acquisition of subsidiaries under common control — 1,443
Termination of sales contract (85,680) —

Recognised as revenue (135) —

Receipt in advance for revenue 349,535 88,883
Exchange realignment (95) —

At the end of the year 353,951 90,326

At 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance 
obligations is approximately HK$576,270,000 (2020: approximately HK$92,238,000). The Group expects the 
transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied performance obligations will be recognised as revenue within one 
year or less.
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Secured bank loans
—  Bank loans bear variable interest rate of 6.18%  

 per annum (“Bank Loans I”) (a), (f) — 711,793
—  Bank loans bear variable interest rate of 7%  

 per annum (“Bank Loans II”) (b), (f) 696,089 —
—  Bank loans bear variable interest rate of 6.3%  

 per annum (“Bank Loans III”) (c), (f) 733,053 —

1,429,142 711,793

Secured other loans
—  Other loans bear fixed interest rate of 7.98%  

  per annum (“Other Loans I”) (d), (f) 224,420 —
—  Other loans bear fixed interest rate of 12%  

 per annum (“Other Loans II”) (e), (f) 5,500 —

229,920 —

1,659,062 711,793

Analysed into:
— Current portion 268,121 711,793
— Non-current portion 1,390,941 —

1,659,062 711,793

Notes:

(a) Bank Loans I bears variable interest rate of 6.18% per annum, which was 30% higher than the lending rate 
quoted by the People’s Bank of China (the “PBC”), payable within one year and is secured by properties under 
development held by the Group with a carrying amount of approximately HK$1,002,458,000 at 31 December 
2020.

Bank Loans I was settled and replaced by Bank Loans III during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b) Bank Loans II bears variable interest rate of 7% per annum, which was the loan prime rate published by the 
PBC plus 3.15%, repayable within three years and is secured by:

(i) properties under development held by the Group with a carrying amount of approximately HK$729,445,000 
(2020: Nil) at 31 December 2021;

(ii) completed properties held by the Group with a carrying amount of approximately HK$32,112,000 (2020: 
Nil) at 31 December 2021;

(iii) properties held by Xi’an Da Tang Xi Shi Property Limited (“DTXS Property”), a company controlled by 
Mr. Lu Jianzhong, the ultimate controlling party of the Group, with estimated value of approximately 
HK$1,291,892,000 (2020:Nil) on the date of inception of Bank Loans II;

(iv) corporate guarantee given by DTXS Property; and

(v) personal guarantees given by an executive director, Mr. Lu Jianzhong.

(c) Bank Loans III bears variable interest rate of 6.3% per annum, which was the lending rate quoted by the PBC 
plus 1.65%, repayable within three years and is secured by properties under development held by the Group 
with a carrying amount of approximately HK$1,045,895,000 (2020: Nil) at 31 December 2021.

(d) Other Loans I bears fixed interest rate of 7.98% per annum, repayable within two years and is secured by:

(i) corporate guarantee given by DTXS Investments; and

(ii) personal guarantees given by an executive director, Mr. Lu Jianzhong.

(e) Other Loans II is drawn down by a subsidiary of the Company, and bears fixed interest rate of 12% per annum, 
repayable within one month and is secured by corporate guarantees given by the Company.

(f) The secured bank loans and other loans are denominated in RMB, except for the Other Loans II which is 
denominated in HK$.

32. BOND PAYABLES
On 22 October 2021, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with an independent third 
party to issue bonds with coupon interest rate of 4.5% per annum (the “Bonds”) in the principal 
amount of HK$500,000 which will mature on the first anniversary of the issue date. The issuance of the 
Bonds was completed on 28 October 2021.
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33. DEFERRED TAXATION
The movements in deferred tax assets (liabilities) during the year are as follows:

Tax losses

Deductible 
donation for 

EIT LAT

Revaluation of 
investment 
properties

Fair value 
adjustments 

upon 
acquisition of 

subsidiaries Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

At 1 January 2020 — — — (922) (20,010) (20,932)
Acquisition of subsidiaries under common control  

(Note 37) 4,581 745 9,433 — — 14,759
Deferred tax credited (charged) to profit or loss 1,047 28 (1,327) 1,293 1,828 2,869
Exchange realignment 362 51 546 12 (1,226) (255)

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 5,990 824 8,652 383 (19,408) (3,559)
Deferred tax credited (charged) to profit or loss (454) (836) 2,261 1,024 1,603 3,598
Exchange realignment 172 12 293 28 (555) (50)

At 31 December 2021 5,708 — 11,206 1,435 (18,360) (11)

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Analysed into:
Deferred tax assets 18,349 15,849
Deferred tax liabilities (18,360) (19,408)

(11) (3,559)

 (a) Tax losses
The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$121,340,000 (2020: 
approximately HK$99,008,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable 
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. These tax losses are subject to approval of the 
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department. The Group also has tax losses arising from overseas 
operations of approximately HK$9,982,000 (2020: approximately HK$7,607,000), subject to 
approval of the relevant tax bureaus, that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future 
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in 
the PRC of approximately HK$24,946,000 (2020: approximately HK$26,969,000) that will expire in 
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had recognised deferred tax assets for the tax losses in the PRC 
of approximately HK$22,832,000 (2020: approximately HK$23,960,000) regarding the Property 
Development Division. The Group had not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of the 
remaining tax losses of approximately HK$133,436,000 (2020: approximately HK$109,624,000) at 
31 December 2021, as it is not considered probable that there would be sufficient future taxable 
profits to utilise such amount.
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33. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)
 (b) Withholding taxes

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends 
declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The 
requirement became effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and 
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is 
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in 
the PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that 
would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s 
subsidiaries established in the PRC. In the opinion of the Company’s directors, it is not probable 
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate 
amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in the PRC for which 
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately HK$35,938,000 at 31 
December 2021 (2020: approximately HK$31,925,000). There are no income tax consequences 
attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

34. SHARE CAPITAL 

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Issued and fully paid:
667,525,230 (2020: 667,525,230) ordinary shares of 

HK$0.5 each 333,763 333,763

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:

Number of 
shares in issue Share capital

Note HK$’000    

At 1 January 2020 667,459,230 333,730
Exercise of share options (a) 66,000 33

At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 and 31 
December 2021 667,525,230 333,763

Note:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2020, share options to subscribe for 24,000 and 42,000 shares of HK$0.50 
each were exercised at HK$3.00 and HK$3.71 per share respectively. These shares rank pari passu with other 
shares in issue in all respects.
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35. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives 
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible 
participants to the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including independent non-executive 
directors, and other employees of the Group. The Scheme became effective on 6 December 2012 and, 
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme 
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any 
time. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the 
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. 
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general 
meeting.

Share options granted to directors, chief executive officers or substantial shareholder of the Company, or 
to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. 
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive 
director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company 
in issue within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general 
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 30 days from the date of offer, upon 
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share 
options granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after a vesting period of one to four 
years and ends on a date which is not later than ten years from the date of grant of the share options.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the higher 
of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share 
options; and (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading 
days immediately preceding the date of offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholder’s meetings.

On 28 January 2016, 15,500,000 share options were granted to eligible participants with a valid period 
of 10 years from the grant date. 40% of these share options vest on the first anniversary of the grant 
date and each of the remaining 30% of these share options vest on the second and third anniversary of 
the grant date respectively. The exercise price is HK$3.000 per share, respectively, which is the closing 
price of the ordinary shares of the Company on the grant date.

On 7 April 2020, 3,750,000 share options were granted to eligible participants with a valid period of 10 
years from the grant date. For 3,000,000 share options, each of the 25% of these share options vest 
after 31 March 2021, 31 March 2022, 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 respectively. For the 
remaining 750,000 share options, 40% of these share options vest after 3 September 2020 and each of 
the remaining 30% of these share options vest after 3 September 2021 and 3 September 2022 
respectively. The exercise price is HK$5.290, which is approximately equal to the closing price of the 
ordinary shares of the Company on the grant date.



Annual Report 2021 137

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021

35. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
On 16 June 2020, 2,600,000 share options were granted to an eligible participant with a valid period of 
10 years from the grant date. Each of the 25% of these share options vest on the first, second, third 
and fourth anniversary of the grant date respectively. The exercise price is HK$4.870, which is 
approximately equal to the closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company on the grant date.

On 12 April 2021, 6,000,000 share options were granted to eligible participants with a valid period of 
10 years from the grant date. For 3,000,000 share options, each of 25% of these share options vest 
after 28 March 2022, 28 March 2023, 28 March 2024 and 28 March 2025 respectively. For 2,000,000 
share options, each of 25% of these share options vest after 11 March 2022, 11 March 2023, 
11 March 2024 and 11 March 2025 respectively. For the remaining 1,000,000 share options, each of 
25% of these share options vest after 2 November 2021, 2 November 2022, 2 November 2023 and 
2 November 2024 respectively. The exercise price is HK$4.494, which is approximately equal to the 
closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company on the grant date.

On 1 September 2021, 1,500,000 share options were granted to an eligible participant with a valid 
period of 10 years from the grant date. Each of the 25% of these share options vest on 31 August 
2022, 31 August 2023, 31 August 2024 and 31 August 2025 respectively. The exercise price is 
HK$4.494, which is approximately equal to the closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company on 
the grant date.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during the year:

2021 2020

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
No. of 

options

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price 
No. of 

options
HK$ per 

share ’000
HK$ per 

share ’000     

At 1 January 3.740 15,850 3.404 15,466
Granted during the year 4.494 7,500 5.118 6,350
Forfeited during the year 5.095 (5,600) 4.346 (5,900)
Exercised during the year — — 3.452 (66)

At 31 December 3.631 17,750 3.740 15,850

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year 
ended 31 December 2020 was HK$4.696 per share.
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35. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period are as follows:

 2021

Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
’000 HK$   

10,250 3.000 28 January 2017–27 January 2026
3,000 4.494 29 March 2022–11 April 2031
2,000 4.494 12 March 2022–11 April 2031
1,000 4.494 3 November 2021–11 April 2031
1,500 4.494 31 August 2022–31 August 2031

 2020

Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
’000 HK$   

10,250 3.000 28 January 2017–27 January 2026
3,000 5.290 1 April 2021–6 April 2030
2,600 4.870 16 June 2021–15 June 2030

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted under the Scheme was estimated at the date of 
grant using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options 
were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Date of grant
28 January 

2016
7 April 

2020
16 June 

2020
12 April  

2021
1 September 

2021
      

Dividend yield (%) 0 0 0 0 0
Expected volatility (%) 43.56 36.34 36.27 44.80 44.95
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.69 1.32 1.12 1.24 1.15
Exit rates of the grantees (%) 0 0 0 0 0
Fair value at measurement date 

(HK$’000) 22,750 8,474 5,210 12,494 2,634
Exercise price (HK$) 3.000 5.290 4.870 4.494 4.494
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35. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
The details of the fair value of share options granted under the Scheme during the year ended 31 
December 2021 are set out as follows:

Date of grant

Share options 
granted 

during the 
year ended 

31 December 
2021

Estimated  
fair value  
per share

Estimated  
fair value

’000 HK$ HK$’000     

Directors
Ma Chao 12 April 2021 3,000 2.154 6,462
Kam Hou Yin John 12 April 2021 2,000 2.017 4,034

Sub-total 5,000 10,496

Employees in aggregate
Employee 12 April 2021 1,000 1.998 1,998
Employee 1 September 2021 1,500 1.756 2,634

Sub-total 2,500 4,632

7,500 15,128

The closing price of the share of the Company immediately before 12 April 2021 and 1 September 
2021, being the date on which the share options were granted, were HK$4.60 and HK$4.02 
respectively.

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, 
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

Before considering any forfeited shares options as set out below, the Group recognised a share-based 
expenses of approximately HK$7,301,000 (2020: approximately HK$4,128,000) during the year ended 31 
December 2021.

In addition, upon the resignation of directors of the Company, Xu Lin and Xu Zhihong, on 1 February 
2021 and 1 September 2021 respectively, share-based expenses of approximately HK$4,686,000 (2020: 
Nil) previously recognised in share option reserve regarding the forfeited share options within the vesting 
period was reversed in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2021, while share-based 
expenses of approximately HK$1,270,000 (2020: approximately HK$9,578,000) regarding the forfeited 
share options after vesting period was reversed in accumulated losses during the year ended 
31 December 2021.
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35. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
At 31 December 2021, the Company had 17,750,000 share options (2020: 15,850,000) outstanding 
under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital 
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 17,750,000 additional ordinary shares (2020: 
15,850,000) of the Company and additional share capital of HK$8,875,000 (2020: HK$7,925,000) and 
share premium of approximately HK$55,580,000 (2020: approximately HK$51,357,000) (before issue 
expenses).

At the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the Company had 17,750,000 share 
options outstanding under the Scheme, which represented approximately 2.66% of the Company’s 
shares in issue at that date.

36. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are 
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(a) The application of the share premium account and the capital redemption reserve is governed by 
Section 40 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

(b) The exchange fluctuation reserve arose from translation of foreign operations, which representing 
the accumulated difference of translating functional currency of the profit or loss for the reporting 
period by weighted average exchange rate and the assets and liabilities by exchange rates 
prevailing at the end of reporting period.

(c) The revaluation reserve arose from the revaluation of owner-occupied properties, classified under 
“property, plant and equipment”, when they were transferred to investment properties. Upon 
disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the revaluation reserve realised in respect of 
previous valuations is transferred to accumulated losses as a movement in reserves.

(d) The merger reserve arose from the acquisition of subsidiaries account for the common control 
combination using the pooling-of-interest method. Such reserve represented the difference between 
the cash consideration and the carrying amount of the net assets of subsidiaries, excluding NCI, at 
the completion date.

(e) The other reserve arose from the acquisition of equity interest, which represented the NCI of 
non-wholly owned subsidiaries. The difference between the consideration and the carrying amount 
of NCI by reference to the net assets of subsidiaries at the acquisition date is recognised in other 
reserve.
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON CONTROL
On 12 March 2020, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in HK DTXS Enterprise Holdings (BVI) 
Limited (together with its subsidiaries collectively referred to as “DTXS Enterprise Group”) at a cash 
consideration of approximately HK$212,000,000 from Da Tang Xi Shi International Group Limited, a 
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of DTXS Investments (the “HK DTXS Acquisition”) since the Group 
planned to strengthen its exposure in the cultural-related real estate investment and development in the 
strategically important regions in the PRC. As the Group and DTXS Enterprise Group are under the 
common control of DTXS Investments before and after the acquisition, the business combination has 
been accounted as a business combination under common control.

The Group elects to account for the common control combination using the pooling-of-interest method 
and the results of DTXS Enterprise Group are consolidated by the Group from the date of acquisition, 
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that 
such control ceases.

The difference between the cash consideration and the carrying amount of the net assets of DTXS 
Enterprise Group, excluding NCI, at the completion date is recognised in merger reserve amounting to 
approximately HK$179,433,000.
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON CONTROL (Continued)
Details of the carrying accounts of the assets and liabilities of DTXS Enterprise Group at the date of 
acquisition are as follows:

At 12 March 
2020

HK$’000  

Property, plant and equipment 1,753
Deferred tax assets 14,759
Properties under development 866,022
Completed properties held for sale 175,310
Trade and other receivables 32,060
Loans receivable 72,743
Restricted bank deposits 2,422
Cash and cash equivalents 3,632
Trade and other payables (330,560)
Interest-bearing borrowings (667,714)
Tax liabilities (65,852)

Net assets of DTXS Enterprise Group (Note) 104,575
NCI (72,052)

32,523
Merger reserve recognised 179,433

211,956

Satisfied by:
Cash 148,455
Deposits paid 63,501

211,956

Net cash outflow arising on the acquisition:
Cash consideration (211,956)
Deposits paid in prior year 63,501
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 3,632

(144,823)

If the business combination effected during the year ended 31 December 2020 had been taken place at 
1 January 2020, the revenue and profit for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 would 
have been approximately HK$199,630,000 and HK$28,880,000, respectively.

Note:　 The amount excluded part of the registered capital of DTXS Enterprise Group that was paid-up by the Group 
subsequent to the business combination.
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38. DISCONTINUED OPERATION
 Disposal of Engineering Services Division

On 30 December 2019, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement to dispose of its entire 
equity interests in UDL Ventures Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “UDL Group”) 
to an independent third party, Harbour Front Limited, at a consideration of approximately 
HK$16,756,000. The UDL Group carried out all of the Group’s business of the provision of marine 
engineering services which represented Engineering Services Division.

The results of the UDL Group up till the completion date of the disposal are accounted for as 
discontinued operation in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. The disposal was completed on 3 February 2020.

The results of the UDL Group for the reporting period was presented below:

2020
HK$’000  

Profit for the period from the UDL Group —

Gain on disposal of the UDL Group 15,319

Profit for the period from the discontinued operation 15,319

Earnings per share:
Basic, from the discontinued operation HK2.30 cents
Diluted, from the discontinued operation HK2.28 cents



DTXS SILK ROAD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED144

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Prior to the completion of the acquisition of DTXS Enterprise Group in March 2020, DTXS Enterprise 
Group did not comply with certain applicable laws and regulations in the PRC and the terms of the sales 
contracts with property buyers, in particular, DTXS Enterprise Group delivered property units of certain 
projects to property buyers before obtaining the relevant completion certificates from the relevant 
government authorities and as a result, property buyers are unable to obtain the ownership certificates 
for the property units they purchased (the “Non-compliance”).

As a result of the Non-compliance, DTXS Enterprise Group is liable to certain surcharges and 
compensation payable to the property buyers. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, after 
taking into account the advices from the Group’s PRC legal adviser and historical claims made by 
property buyers, it is not probable that surcharges and compensation would be claimed by property 
purchasers in connection with the Non-compliance and therefore, no provision is recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements.

At the end of the year, contingent liabilities in respect of potential claims from property buyers in 
connection with the Non-compliance are summarised as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Potential claims from property buyers in connection with the Non-
compliance 2,422 3,137
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40. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had granted the following financial guarantees:

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities 
provided for certain purchasers of DTXS 
Enterprise Group’s properties (a) 176,340 181,455

Guarantee in respect of loan facility provided for a 
related party (b) 361,080 356,550

537,420 538,005

Notes:

(a) DTXS Enterprise Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain banks relating 
to the mortgage loans arranged for certain purchasers of DTXS Enterprise Group’s properties. Pursuant to the 
terms of the guarantees, in the event of default on mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry 
of the guarantees, DTXS Enterprise Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage principals 
together with the accrued interest and penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any 
sales proceeds as described below.

Pursuant to the above arrangement, the related properties were pledged to the banks as collateral for the 
mortgage loans, in the event of default on mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the banks are entitled to 
take over the legal titles and will realise the pledged properties through open auction or other appropriate 
means.

DTXS Enterprise Group is responsible for repaying the banks when the proceeds from the auction of the 
properties cannot cover the outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties. 
DTXS Enterprise Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and 
ends upon the issuance of real estate ownership certificates to the purchasers.

(b) DTXS Enterprise Group provided a financial guarantee for a bank loan with a principal of RMB300,000,000 
(equivalent to HK$367,200,000) obtained by DTXS Property, while the relevant balance of bank loan at 
31 December 2021 was RMB295,000,000 (equivalent to HK$361,080,000) (2020: RMB300,000,000 (equivalent 
to HK$356,550,000)). At the same time, DTXS Investments provided a counter financial guarantee in favour of 
DTXS Enterprise Group for its obligations under the said financial guarantee. Further details of the financial 
guarantee arrangement are set out in the Company’s circular dated 21 February 2020.

The directors do not consider it is probable that a claim will be made against the Group under these 
guarantees and no provision for any potential obligations has been recognised.
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41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
 (a) Major non-cash transaction

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities of approximately HK$6,814,000 (2020: Nil) and HK$6,814,000 
(2020: Nil) respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for buildings included in property, 
plant and equipment.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had non-cash addition to financial asset 
at FVPL of RMB6,300,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,488,000) as settlement of loans 
receivable. Details of the settlement are set out in Notes 23(a) and 27 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had acquired the NCI of a non-wholly 
owned subsidiary with consideration of HK$4,780,000, which was settled by inventories of 
the Group.

 (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 

Bond  
payables

Interest-
bearing 

borrowings
Lease 

liabilities Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

2021
At 1 January 2021 — 711,793 6,966 718,759
Inception of bank and other 

interest-bearing borrowings — 1,636,461 — 1,636,461
New leases — — 6,814 6,814
Issuance of bond payables 500 — — 500
Changes from financing cash flows — (724,741) (6,414) (731,155)
Foreign exchange movement — 35,549 (148) 35,401
Interest expenses — — 185 185
Interest paid classified as operating 

cash flows — — (185) (185)

At 31 December 2021 500 1,659,062 7,218 1,666,780

2020
At 1 January 2020 — — 17,653 17,653
Addition from acquisition of 

subsidiaries under common control — 667,714 — 667,714
Changes from financing cash flows — — (8,844) (8,844)
Termination of lease — — (2,172) (2,172)
Foreign exchange movement — 44,079 329 44,408
Interest expenses — — 425 425
Interest paid classified as operating 

cash flows — — (425) (425)

At 31 December 2020 — 711,793 6,966 718,759
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41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
 (c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated statement of cash flows is as 
follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within operating activities 453 573
Within financing activities 6,414 8,844

6,867 9,417

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Other than those disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into 
the following transactions with related parties during the year:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2021, rental income of approximately HK$2,424,000 (2020: 
approximately HK$2,536,000) was generated from the investment properties leased to a related 
company controlled by DTXS Investments, at a rate of approximately HK$284 (2020: approximately 
HK$265) per square metre.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i) Included in trade and other receivables, approximately HK$6,321,000 (2020: HK$3,595,000) 
was the rental receivables due from a related company controlled by DTXS Investments at 31 
December 2021.

(ii) Included in other payables, approximately HK$1,003,000 (2020: HK$1,003,000) was the 
amount due to a related company controlled by DTXS Investments at 31 December 2021.

The above mentioned related companies were ultimately controlled by a director, Mr. Lu 
Jianzhong. The balances were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. During the year 
ended 31 December 2021, the maximum outstanding balance of (i) was approximately 
HK$6,321,000 (2020: HK$3,595,000).
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
 (c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid to the directors of the 
Company as disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements, is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Salaries, bonus, allowances and other benefits in kind 9,301 10,664
Share-based payment expenses 1,207 4,128
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 89 86

10,597 14,878

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive officers’ remuneration are included in Note 12 
to the consolidated financial statements.

43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Company had the following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Construction contracts for properties under development 852,776 1,343,562
Capital injection to unlisted equity investment (Note 23(a)) 17,993 —

870,769 1,343,562

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
All financial assets and liabilities of the Group at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were financial assets and 
financial liabilities stated at amortised cost, except for the unlisted equity investment and listed equity 
securities were financial assets stated at FVPL.
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45. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The following presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value or required to disclose their fair 
value in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis across the three levels of the fair 
value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement , with the fair value measurement 
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 
The levels of inputs are defined as follows:

• Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the Group can access at the measurement date.

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

 (a) Fair value of investment properties that are measured at fair value
The details of the fair value measurement and hierarchy are included in Note 19 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

 (b) Fair value of other financial assets that are measured at fair value 

Financial assets
Fair value at  
31 December

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation techniques 
and key inputs

Relationship of 
unobservable inputs 
to fair value

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Financial assets at FVPL
Unlisted equity investment 7,711 — Level 3 Asset-based approach: 

By reference to net 
asset value of the 
investment

The higher the net 
asset value, the 
higher the fair 
value

Listed equity securities 
— listed in Hong Kong

960 — Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an 
active market

N/A
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45.  FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

 (b) Fair value of other financial assets that are measured at fair value (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 
fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements in both 
years. The details of the movements of the recurring fair value measurements categorised as Level 
3 of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

2021
HK$’000 

Financial assets at FVPL — Unlisted equity investment
At the beginning of the year —
Additions to unlisted equity investment 7,488
Exchange realignment 223

At the end of the year 7,711

 (c) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at other than fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments measured at amortised cost reasonably 
approximate to their fair values at the end of the reporting period.

Management has assessed that the fair values of restricted bank deposits, cash and cash 
equivalents, financial assets included in trade and other receivables, loans receivables, financial 
liabilities included in trade and other payables, interest-bearing borrowings and bond payables 
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these 
instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the 
instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a 
forced or liquidation sale.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise financial assets at FVPL, loans receivables, interest-
bearing borrowings, bond payables, restricted bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The main 
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has 
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables and trade and other 
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The board of directors of the Company reviews and agrees policies for managing each of 
these risks and they are summarised below. The Group’s accounting policies in relation to financial 
instruments are set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

 Foreign currency risk
The Group’s business operations are principally in Hong Kong, Mainland China and France. The majority 
of the business transactions were denominated in respective local currencies and there were only 
insignificant balances of financial assets and liabilities that were denominated in foreign currencies at 31 
December 2021. Hence, the Group is not exposed to significant foreign exchange risk.

The Group has not used any financial instruments to hedge against currency risk. However, management 
constantly reviews the economic situation and its foreign currency risk profile and monitors its foreign 
exchange exposure, and will implement appropriate hedging measures in future on significant foreign 
currency exposure should the need arise.

 Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all 
customers who wish to trade with credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, 
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not 
significant.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying 
amounts of the Group’s financial assets. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit 
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets, except that the credit risks 
associated with advances to consignors for the art financing business are mitigated because they are 
secured by the pledged auction items as discussed below.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables is influenced mainly by the individual 
characteristics of each customer rather than the industry or country in which the customers operate. At 
the end of the reporting period, the Group has a concentration of credit risk arising from trade 
receivables as approximately 9% (2020: 7%) of the total trade receivables were due from the Group’s 
largest customer and approximately 37% (2020: 31%) of the total trade receivables were due from the 
Group’s five largest customers.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
 Credit risk (Continued)
 Impairment assessment of trade and other receivables
 Trade receivables — receivables from customers

In respect of the receivables from customers included in trade receivables, an impairment analysis is 
performed at the end of each reporting period using a provision matrix to measure ECL. The provision 
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns 
(i.e. by geographical region, product type, customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the 
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that 
is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions. Generally, related trade receivables are written off if past due for more than one year and 
are subject to enforcement activity.

At 31 December 2021, except for the trade receivables of Winery and Trading Division and Property 
Development Division (2020: Winery and Trading Division), management considered that the ECL rate for 
the Group’s receivables from customers included in trade receivables was minimal and therefore no 
provision for impairment of related trade receivables was necessary.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables of that 
using a provision matrix:

 Winery and Trading Division 

Past due

Current
Less than  
3 months

Over  
3 months

Credit-
impaired Total      

31 December 2021
ECL rate 0% 0% 9.2% 99.8%
Gross carrying amount 

(HK$’000) 963 647 4,963 12,059 18,632
Expect credit losses 

(HK$’000) — — 457 12,032 12,489

31 December 2020
ECL rate 0% 0% 25.3% 100%
Gross carrying amount 

(HK$’000) 855 129 14,225 33 15,242
Expect credit losses 

(HK$’000) — — 3,599 33 3,632

 Property Development Division 

Past due

Current
Less than  
3 months

Over  
3 months

Credit-
impaired Total      

31 December 2021
ECL rate 0% 0% 0% 67.5%
Gross carrying amount 

(HK$’000) — — — 8,336 8,336
Expect credit losses 

(HK$’000) — — — 5,630 5,630
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
 Credit risk (Continued)

 Impairment assessment of trade and other receivables (Continued)

 Advances to consignors and related interest receivables included in trade receivables
In respect of advances to consignors for the art financing business and related interest receivables, at 31 
December 2021, the balances that were overdue amounted to approximately HK$23,912,000 (2020: 
approximately HK$46,164,000).

The balances are either repayable upon the pledged auction items dealt through auction successfully or 
repayable within 12 months from the date of advance in accordance with the respective agreements. As 
part of the Group’s risk management policy, the amount advanced to consignors generally is less than 
40% of the estimated fair value of their pledged auction items. The Group reviews the credit loss of 
advance balances individually and regularly. Before acceptance of the pledged auction items, the Group 
involves internal experts to prove the authenticity and estimate the value of the pledged auction items. 
As part of this review, the Group considers the fair value movement of the pledged auction items and 
monitors the credit risk of the consignors. In the opinion of the directors, there has been no significant 
deterioration in the fair value of the pledged auction items during the current or prior years.

An impairment analysis is performed at the end of the reporting period, which are estimated by applying 
the probability of default approach with reference to its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. The Group measures the 
provision for credit loss equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The amount of ECL provided takes 
into account the fair value of the pledged auction items. The Group has not provided any ECL for 
advances to consignors and interest receivables, as in the opinion of the directors, the fair value of the 
pledged auction items exceeds the outstanding advances and related interest receivables on an individual 
basis.

 Other receivables
In respect of other receivables other than the aforesaid, the management of the Group makes individual 
assessment on the recoverability of these financial assets based on credit risk assessment and historical 
settlement records and past experience, if any, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, 
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of 
conditions at the end of the reporting period. The ECL which are estimated by applying the probability 
of default approach with reference to the risks of default of the debtors or comparable companies and 
adjusted for forward-looking adjustments.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had taken legal actions to certain debtors with 
outstanding gross balance of approximately HK$14,750,000. The Group had considered those 
outstanding balances were credit-impaired and should be provided with lifetime ECL. At 31 December 
2021, the Group has provided for impairment of approximately HK$14,750,000 for the credit-impaired 
debtors.

At 31 December 2021, the Group has provided for impairment of approximately HK$3,079,000 (2020: 
approximately HK$204,000) for the debtors with significantly increased credit risk.

 Restricted bank deposits and cash and bank balances
The credit risks on restricted bank deposits and cash and bank balances are limited because the 
counterparties are banks and other financial institution with high credit ratings assigned by international 
credit-rating agencies.



DTXS SILK ROAD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED154

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
 Credit risk (Continued)

 Maximum exposure and year-end staging
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s 
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due information unless other information is available without 
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification at 31 December.

The amounts presented are carrying amounts for financial assets.

12-month 
ECL Lifetime ECL

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified 
approach Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

At 31 December 2021

Financial assets included in 
trade and other 
receivables 520,749 25,823 — 15,284 561,856

Restricted bank deposits 2,668 — — — 2,668
Cash and cash equivalents 28,124 — — — 28,124

551,541 25,823 — 15,284 592,648

At 31 December 2020

Financial assets included in 
trade and other 
receivables 513,427 50,887 — 28,325 592,639

Restricted bank deposits 2,586 — — — 2,586
Cash and cash equivalents 193,396 — — — 193,396

709,409 50,887 — 28,325 788,621
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
 Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance 
with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed 
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and 
longer term.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based on the 
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Within 1 
year or on 

demand
In the second 

year

In the third 
to fifth 

years, 
inclusive Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

At 31 December 2021
Trade and other payables (including 

lease liabilities) 290,062 2,973 — 293,035
Interest-bearing borrowings 394,545 593,938 924,467 1,912,950
Bond payables 523 — — 523
Financial guarantee contract (Note) 361,080 — — 361,080

1,046,210 596,911 924,467 2,567,588

At 31 December 2020
Trade and other payables (including 

lease liabilities) 318,886 938 — 319,824
Interest-bearing borrowings 711,793 — — 711,793
Financial guarantee contract (Note) 356,550 — — 356,550

1,387,229 938 — 1,388,167

Note: The amount included above for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts of the guarantees, 
shown in the earliest periods in which the guarantees could be called. As set out in Note 40(b) to the 
consolidated financial statements, DTXS Investments provided a counter financial guarantee in favour of DTXS 
Enterprise Group for its obligation under the said financial guarantee. Based on the assessments at the end of 
the reporting period, the directors do not consider it probable that a claim will be made against DTXS 
Enterprise Group under these guarantees.

 Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital structure in order to support its business 
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 
conditions and risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new 
shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made 
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2021 
and 2020.



DTXS SILK ROAD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED156

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2021

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period 
is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5,656 4,469
Investments in subsidiaries 1,148,977 1,135,091

1,154,633 1,139,560

Current assets
Other receivables 986 1,600
Cash and bank balances 52 22,374

1,038 23,974

Current liabilities
Other payables 5,145 6,031
Bond payables (Note 32) 500 —

5,645 6,031

Net current (liabilities) assets (4,607) 17,943

Total assets less current liabilities 1,150,026 1,157,503

Non-current liabilities
Other payables 2,639 —

NET ASSETS 1,147,387 1,157,503

Capital and reserves
Share capital (Note 34) 333,763 333,763
Reserve (Note) 813,624 823,740

TOTAL EQUITY 1,147,387 1,157,503

The statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 
31 March 2022 and signed on its behalf by

Kam Hou Yin John Wong Kwok Tung Gordon Allan
Director Director
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share 
premium

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
Contributed 

surplus*
Share option 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 36(a)) (Note 36(a)) (Note 35)
       

At 1 January 2020 1,569,589 1,264 21,689 24,959 (681,998) 935,503
Loss for the year — — — — (116,085) (116,085)
Exercise of share options (Notes 34 and 35) 302 — — (108) — 194
Transfer of share option reserve upon the forfeiture of share options  

after vesting date (Note 35) — — — (9,578) 9,578 —

Equity-settled share option arrangements (Note 35) — — — 4,128 — 4,128

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 1,569,891 1,264 21,689 19,401 (788,505) 823,740

Loss for the year — — — — (12,731) (12,731)
Transfer of share option reserve upon the forfeiture of share options  

after vesting date (Note 35) — — — (1,270) 1,270 —

Equity-settled share option arrangements (Note 35) — — — 2,615 — 2,615

At 31 December 2021 1,569,891 1,264 21,689 20,746 (799,966) 813,624

* The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of the net assets of the subsidiaries acquired 
pursuant to the Group Reorganisation in prior years, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in 
exchange therefor. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus is 
distributable to shareholders under certain circumstances which the Company cannot currently meet.
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A summary of the results of the Group and of its assets and liabilities for the last five financial periods as 
extracted from the audited financial statements is set out below:

Year ended 31 December
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated) (Restated)

Note Note      

RESULTS

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue 107,404 193,181 235,421 135,980 168,316

(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX (28,520) 13,363 (19,395) (84,131) (67,824)
Income tax (expenses) credits (5,845) 1,556 (2,384) (102) (4,316)

(Loss) Profit for the year from 
continuing operations (34,365) 14,919 (21,779) (84,233) (72,140)

(Loss) Profit for the year from 
discontinued operations — 15,319 29,946 (44,673) 7,350

(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (34,365) 30,238 8,167 (128,906) (64,790)

(Loss) Profit for the year 
attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company (33,656) 32,556 10,286 (126,909) (63,925)
Non-controlling interests (709) (2,318) (2,119) (1,997) (865)

(34,365) 30,238 8,167 (128,906) (64,790)

At 31 December
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 3,643,075 2,464,643 1,394,006 829,696 944,862

Total liabilities (2,418,848) (1,222,927) (121,189) (163,834) (133,082)

Net assets 1,224,227 1,241,716 1,272,817 665,862 811,780

Note: 

The disposal of the UDL Ventures Group and the Digital Mind Group for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, 
respectively, constituted discontinued operations (reference to note 38 to the consolidated financial statements). Accordingly, 
the comparatives for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 have been re-presented in accordance with HKFRS 
5Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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